
 

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
 

 
Andy Booth 
 
Tel No: 0113 247 4325 

 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCHOOL ORGANISATION ADVISORY BOARD 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 

Tuesday, 20th May, 2014 at 1.30 pm 
 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
DIOCESAN BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE 
DIOCESE OF THE CHURCH OF ENGLAND 

 
Vacancy 

 
 

ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH DIOCESE 
 

Angela Cox 
 
 
 

SCHOOLS GROUP 
 

David Roundtree - Headteacher 
 
 

FURTHER /HIGHER EDUCATION ESTABLISHMENT GROUP 
 

Vacancy 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

 
 

SCHOOL ORGANISATION ADVISORY BOARD (LEEDS) 
 
 

PURPOSE OF THE BOARD 
 
 
 
Leeds City Council as the Local Authority has responsibility to make decisions in relation 
to certain school organisation statutory proposals. 
 
At the request of the Authority the School Organisation Advisory Board, made up of 
representatives from the area’s education community, has been set up in order to 
consider and make recommendations to the Authority in relation to school organisation 
proposals:- 
 

• Where objections have been submitted 

• As otherwise requested by the Authority 
 
 
In making recommendations the Board will have regard to relevant statues. Statutory 
Regulations and Guidance 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

C 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  CHAIR'S OPENING REMARKS 
 
To receive the Chair’s opening remarks. 
  
 

 

2   
 

  APOLOGIES 
 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
  
 

 

3   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To note any declarations of interest. 
  
 

 

4   
 

  OUTCOME OF STATUTORY NOTICES FOR THE 
EXPANSION OF PRIMARY PROVISION IN 
FARSLEY AND HORSFORTH FOR 2015 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of 
Capacity Planning and Sufficiency regarding the 
outcome of statutory notices for the expansion of 
primary provision in Farsley and Horsforth for 2015 
and to make a recommendation to the Executive 
Board to assist the Executive Board in reaching a 
decision on the proposals. 
  
The proposals subject of the expansion 
programme are: 
  

•       Expansion of Farsley Westroyd Infant 
School and Farsley Springbank Junior 
Schools and convert them both into primary 
schools. 

  

•       Expansion of Broadgate Primary School, 
Horsforth. 

 

7 - 82 

 

     

2      



 

 
D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

     

    
 

 

a)      

b)      

     



 

 

Report of Capacity Planning and Sufficiency 

Report to School Organisation Advisory Board 

Date: 20 May 2014 

Subject: Outcome of statutory notices for the expansion of primary provision in 
Farsley and Horsforth for 2015  

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Calverley and Farsley, Horsforth 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Executive Summary  

1. Leeds City Council has a statutory duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. In 
response to rising birth rates, it has implemented a number of proposals for expansion 
of primary provision in order to meet this duty, and continues to bring forward further 
proposals. Such changes require a statutory process, which involves first a public 
consultation, and then a statutory notice period, both of which allow for representations 
to be made from stakeholders. 

2. At its meeting on 14 February 2014, the Executive Board considered a report on the 
outcome of a consultation on proposals to expand Farsley Westroyd Infant School and 
Farsley Springbank Junior School and convert them both into primary schools. The 
Board gave permission to publish a statutory notice which was published on 26 March 
2014 and expired on 7 May 2014.  Twelve representations were received, ten 
objections and two letters of support, one each in relation to Springbank and Westroyd 
from their respective Governing Bodies.  

3. At its meeting on 5 March 2015, the Executive Board considered a report on the 
outcome of a consultation on proposals to expand Broadgate Primary School, 
Horsforth and gave permission to publish a statutory notice. The notice was published 
on 9 April 2014 and expired on 7 May 2014.  Three representations were received, all 
objecting to the proposal. 

 Report author:  Viv Buckland  

Tel:  2475924 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

 

4. Under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 a final decision must be made within 
two months of expiry of these notices (therefore by 7 July 2014), or be referred to the 
School’s Adjudicator for a decision. Any significant change to the proposals at this 
stage would require the proposals to be rejected, and fresh consultation to begin, 
precluding the delivery of places for 2015. 

Page 6



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report describes the representations made to the Local Authority regarding 
the statutory notices for three proposals, and asks SOAB to consider these 
responses and make a recommendation to Executive Board on a final decision on 
these proposals.  

2 Background information 

2.1 The proposals were brought forward as part of a programme of expansions of 
primary provision to ensure the authority meets its legal duty to secure sufficient 
school places. The proposals are: 

• To expand Farsley Westroyd Infant School from a capacity of 180 pupils to 
210 pupils and raising the upper age limit from 7 to 11, therefore creating a 
primary school with an admission number of 30, with effect from September 
2015. 

• To expand Farsley Springbank Junior School from a capacity from 240 to 420 
and lowering the age limit from 7 to 4, therefore creating a primary school with 
an admission number of 60, with effect from September 2015 

• To expand Broadgate Primary School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 420 
pupils with an increase in the admission number from 30 to 60 with effect from 
September 2015 

2.2 The public consultation for Farsley Westroyd and Farsley Springbank was held 
from 16 September 2013 to 25 October 2013 and responses to this consultation 
were considered at the Council’s Executive Board on 14 February 2014. 
Permission to proceed to statutory notice was given. 

2.3 The public consultation for Broadgate Primary School was held from 25 
November 2013 to 17 January 2014 and responses to this consultation were 
considered at the Council’s Executive Board on 5 March 2014. Permission to 
proceed to statutory notice was given.   

3 Main issues 

3.1 With regard to Farsley Westroyd and Farsley Springbank, twelve representations 
were received, 10 objections and two in support.  The concerns raised were not 
new, they had been raised during the consultation phase.     

3.2 Three representations were received in relation to the expansion of Broadgate 
Primary School, all objecting to the proposal.  The concerns raised were not new, 
they had been raised during the consultation phase.      

3.3 A summary of the issues raised in objection are contained in the following 
paragraphs. Copies of the representations are enclosed with this report, and can 
also be found at www.leeds.gov.uk.  Previous Executive Board reports also 
enclosed in this report. 

Page 7



 

 

 

3.4 Proposal One: Expansion of Farsley Westroyd Infant School and Farsley 
Springbank Junior School and conversion to primary schools 

3.5 Both Governing Bodies are in favour of the proposals and have stated this in 
response to the statutory notice. 

3.6 Concern: There are already issues with traffic, parking and congestion, these 
expansions will only make it worse. There are already many families that travel 
from outside of Farsley to get a place in these popular schools which adds to the 
traffic problems. 

Response: The new provision would require new buildings, which in turn require 
planning permission. Highways and road safety issues would need to be 
addressed as part of this process, and would need to consider the full impact of 
the complete project from the outset. Children’s Services have commenced 
engagement with officers within the relevant parts of the Highways department 
with the aim of ensuring that the impact on the surrounding road and footpath 
infrastructure is minimised in so far as this is possible.  Options being considered 
at this stage are altered opening times; staggered pick up and drop off times; 
walking buses, and options for parents to park further away from the school and 
walk. Child safety is a key priority and the local authority would try to ensure that 
staff vehicles are parked off the road. It is our policy to encourage children to walk 
to school. If current play space is required for parking, then it would be re-
provided elsewhere.     

These proposals, i.e. the establishment of two primary schools rather than linked 
infant and junior schools, would mean that, in the long term, families would not 
need to travel to both schools to drop children off at school or to collect children at 
the end of the school day, therefore reducing the amount of traffic between the 
two schools. It is acknowledged however that during the transition phase, 
journeys between the two schools would still be required.  

These changes would create 30 extra local school places for local children and 
establish two admission points (one at each school instead of just at the infant 
site). Local provision maximises the opportunity to walk to school therefore 
reducing the need for people using their cars to travel to drop their children off at 
school from outside of the area.  

3.7 Concern: There would not be enough space at Westroyd for all the children; for 
outside space, PE, hall space, grassed areas.  Older children will not have 
sufficient space to play and the reception children should not have to cross New 
Street for lunch.  

Response: Westroyd Infant school has two sites, the main infant site and the 
nursery site across New Street. To convert Westroyd Infant School into a 1FE 
primary school only one additional classroom is required. It has been agreed that 
there is a clear educational benefit to this being provided as an extension to the 
existing nursery building to create a Foundation unit.  This would also allow the 
external space on the nursery site to be developed further. The Management 

Page 8



 

 

Team at the school would arrange for the Reception children’s school meals to be 
delivered to the Foundation unit, so they would not have to leave site for their 
lunch. 

It is acknowledged that the main site is not large and there would not be external 
green space on the school site for on-site PE, as is the case now. However, 
following some remodelling of the main site there would be indoor and outdoor 
hard play areas suitable for all primary aged children. Access could be arranged 
for off-site provision in the same way that, for example, swimming lessons are 
currently provided off-site for primary schools. Risk assessments would be carried 
out in all cases when taking children off site to access external provision.  

The management team at Westroyd are fully supportive of this plan and are 
confident that they would be able to manage the provision of indoor and outdoor 
activities well with the space available. 

3.8 Concern: These proposals will make Westroyd an unpopular choice for parents 
due to lack of space and facilities, therefore making it vulnerable. 

Response: The school and its Governing Body are fully supportive of this 
proposal and are confident that Westroyd will remain a popular choice for parents.  

It is recognised that the site is relatively small, however it is of a similar size to 
other successful 1FE primary schools in Leeds and the overall site and buildings 
are within the range recommended within national guidance.  The school is a key 
member of the design team and are supportive of a proposed solution that 
requires only minor extension to the school, with no loss of play space or car 
parking.    

3.9 Concern: The consultation process was poorly managed and publicised. 
Incorrect information was presented, the online response form did not work. 

Response: There was widespread publicity regarding these proposals; a leaflet 
drop was carried out in the streets surrounding the schools, posters and leaflets 
were placed in various shops, on lampposts and in the library, on Town Street/Old 
Road. An advertisement was placed in The Squeaker’s August publication, a 
publication delivered to all households in the Farsley/Calverley area.  Information 
was posted on the Leeds City Council website. Leaflets and booklets were passed 
to all Early Years settings in the local area and posters were placed in Jackaboos 
play gym at Sunnybank Mills. All Farsley schools were sent e-mails, booklets and 
posters to pass to the pupils to pass on to their parents/carers. 

There was an issue with the online response form. However the IT department 
advised that this was due to a problem involving some versions of Adobe Acrobat 
resulting in responses not submitting correctly. This technical issue was drawn to 
the attention of officers at the end of the consultation period, when a respondent 
raised the issue.  All relevant parties were contacted to inform them of this issue 
and allowed the resubmission of responses for a further week following the 
original deadline. Steps have been taken to ensure that this issue will not occur 
again by using the Talking Point facility through the Leeds City Council website.  
Other methods of response including paper forms and email were not affected. 

Page 9



 

 

Social media was used by local residents to share information regarding the 
proposals and this was not mirrored by a similar social media presence by the 
Council although officers did post comments on the site created in response to 
queries raised.  Communication methods and lack of social media presence have 
been considered and measures have been put in place to have a Facebook 
presence for future consultations. 

There were opportunities for stakeholders to respond to the consultation.  Two 
public meetings were held during the consultation period, one at each of the 
schools, along with drop in sessions to allow parents/residents to ask questions of 
officers in a more informal setting.  Additional meetings were also held during the 
latter stages of the consultation to present the emerging design options.    

3.10 Concern: Alternative options presented by parents at consultation events were 
not listened to. 

Response: The counter proposal of leaving Westroyd as a 2FE infant school and 
changing Springbank in to a 1FE primary school yet retaining the admission point 
at Year 3 so that children could still transition at Year 3 from Westroyd would 
require one further class base at the junior site in addition to the accommodation 
required for the two form entry primary school model proposed. 

Such a proposal would create the extra 30 places, whilst retaining the option of an 
infant and junior as well as primary school options. It would increase access to 
Farsley schools for Farsley residents because a new admission point for reception 
would still be created at Springbank. It would ensure all KS2 children had outdoor 
playing field provision on site at the school.  

However, on balance it is not the preferred option.  From an educational 
perspective it makes the issues of transition from KS1 to KS2 more complex, 
risking the outcomes for children. It would mean that the benefits of consistency 
and continuity of care which the original proposal offers are lost, and that the 
transition risks remain for the majority of pupils. The schools would lose the 
benefits of becoming primary schools; that is the opportunity to attract and retain 
staff and offer greater breadth and depth of professional experience. This in turn 
would impact on the benefits children would have enjoyed by attending a primary 
school. The concerns about increased traffic would be further exacerbated by the 
continuing need for parents who have children in both of the schools to make 
journeys to both each day as well as the additional cohort. 

3.11 Concern: There is a housing development planned at Kirklees Knoll where a new 
primary school will be built. This will make Westroyd vulnerable. 

Response: The proposal is brought forward on the basis of the children who are 
already living in the area. Should the Kirklees Knoll project go forward this will 
produce further demand, estimated at half a form of entry across every year 
group. A S106 agreement has been drawn up with the developer that would 
contribute to a new school being provided on the site, if the development went 
ahead.  

Page 10



 

 

At this point it is not certain that the development will go ahead as planning 
permission has not yet been granted. There is a need to establish additional 
educational provision to meet the needs of children already living in the area.   
Meeting those needs in a timely manner forms an essential part of our drive to 
become a child friendly city, and meet our obsessions. At this stage, securing the 
land for a new school is an essential precaution, however there remains a 
significant funding gap, not least to acquire the land for the school, and all options 
will be evaluated if the building proposals are approved. The impact on 
neighbouring schools and their ability to expand would also be taken into 
consideration before opening further provision in the area.  

3.12 Concern: Is there actually need for 30 places? The data appears to suggest that 
only 9 additional places are required.  How would school places be managed if 
the birth rate reduces? 

Response: The birth and cohort data suggests that a further form of entry (30 
places) is required in the area.  See appendix 1 for a data table showing the 
number of births in the Farsley Planning area from 2012 to 2016. It shows that the 
birth rate is rising and there will be no spare capacity in the area from 2015. The 
demographic pressure is in the Farsley area and additional places would provide 
a place in a Farsley school for Farsley children.  Whilst it is possible to expand 
both Farsley Farfield Primary School and Valley View Primary School, many 
children for whom Valley View is their nearest school do actually live in Farsley. 

There has been a sustained rise in the birth rate across Leeds and this is mirrored 
in Farsley.  The Local Authority has a statutory duty to provide school places for 
all children living in Leeds and must ensure therefore that sufficient places are 
available for those who have been born.  If the birth rate declines in the future 
then officers would work with local schools to determine how a reduction in need 
would best be managed.  

3.13 Concern: Transition arrangements have been badly thought through and will 
have a negative impact on the children’s education. There is not sufficient space 
at Westroyd to accommodate all the children should all families opt for their 
children to stay at Westroyd for the whole of their primary education.  Going from 
a 1FE primary school to a 6FE secondary school will have a negative impact on 
the children. 

Response: The transition arrangements would allow for 60 year 3 places at 
Springbank for three years to enable those who wished to transfer to Springbank 
as they had intended on entering Westroyd to do so. All children on roll at 
Westroyd would automatically be entitled to stay on and complete their primary 
education there. This would allow for maximum parental choice. It is 
acknowledged that there would not be sufficient accommodation on site and 
therefore alternative accommodation would have to be found should this be the 
case.  Experience with the conversion of infant to primary school in Horsforth in 
2012 was that three quarters of families chose for their children to transition to the 
junior school rather than stay at the infant school.  

As a part of the statutory process transition arrangements that would apply for the 
schools were described, and this overwrites the admissions policy for its duration. 

Page 11



 

 

The proposed transition arrangements allow sibling priorities to be applied to both 
older and younger siblings. No admissions arrangements can ever provide an 
absolute guarantee of places, but these would ensure in practical terms that the 
children attending Westroyd would have priority for the Springbank places, should 
they wish to transition to Springbank. Full details of the commitments are outlined 
in appendix 2. 

Transition from a 1FE primary school to a 6 FE high school is not uncommon.  
There are many 1FE primary schools in Leeds, high schools in Leeds are typically 
6FE, some are larger.  Transition to high school is a key priority for all primary and 
secondary schools and the schools would work together to ensure transition was 
well managed.  The Learning Improvement Team at Leeds City Council would 
also provide support, guidance and assistance during this time. 

3.14 Concern: The majority of respondents who are parents objected to the proposal 
but it still got to the statutory notice stage. Also, the numbers do not add up with 
regard to the respondents. 

Response: All concerns, comments and views received during the consultation 
were collated and included in a report to the Executive Board in February 2014. 
The Board considered the paper and approved the recommendations that 
expanding and Farsley Westroyd Infant School from a capacity of 180 pupils to 
210 pupils and raising the upper age limit from 7 to 11 and expanding Farsley 
Springbank Junior School from a capacity of 240 pupils to 420 pupils and 
changing the lower age limit from 7 to 4 are still considered to provide the most 
appropriate solutions for the area and on that basis gave permission to publish a 
statutory notice.  

During the consultation period 75 responses were received, 65% of the 
respondents agreed with the proposals and 35% of the respondents disagreed. 
Out of the 38 parents, carers and residents that responded 14 agreed with the 
proposals and 24 objected. 

3.15 Concern: Will play equipment be removed from Westroyd reception playground. 

Response: The outdoor play space would be remodelled to accommodate the 
number of children and be suitable for their age group. This may mean moving 
play equipment from one area to another.  

3.16 Concern: You stated that as primary schools, staff would have better job 
opportunities than if they stayed as infant and junior school. If the staff do not 
have good job opportunities now, then that is a failing of the local authority and 
the schools themselves. 

Response: The response provided was in the context that teaching/working in a 
primary school offers the opportunity to teach across the age ranges whether 
foundation, Key Stage 1 or Key Stage 2.  It provides the opportunity to work 
across a broader curriculum with children across the age ranges. When staff are 
applying for promotion posts, for example, looking for senior leadership posts in 
primary schools, experience of teaching across the primary age range is often a 
pre-requisite.      

Page 12



 

 

3.17 Concern: If the proposals are approved, there will be disruption during the 
building work. 

Response: Wherever possible work would be carried out in school holidays but 
some work would have to be carried out during term time. The local authority have 
extensive experience of managing building projects on school sites and risk 
assessments would be carried out as standard practice. 

3.18 Concern:  A member of the Capacity Planning Team was a Governor at 
Westroyd during this consultation. Is this not a conflict of interest? 

Response: Many council officers are school governors.  The member of staff 
concerned is a parent governor at Westroyd Infant School and he has acted 
professionally throughout this process.  Along with other officers in the team he 
has supported the preparation of consultation materials but he did not attend any 
of the public meetings or drop in sessions as would normally be expected of 
officers nor did he attend the Westroyd governing body meeting during the 
consultation stage.  There was no conflict of interest. 

3.19 Concern: An e-petition was received by the Local Authority asking for the 
consultation to be revisited as it had not been conducted fairly, alternative options 
had not been considered and the proposals were unrealistic 

3.20 Response: Whilst the petition asks that consultation is revisited, the statutory 
notice period during which it was received was a period which specifically sought 
the views of parents, residents and other stakeholders on the options presented.  
The views expressed during this phase have been addressed in the preceding 
paragraphs of this report.  

3.21 Proposal Two: Expansion of Broadgate Primary School from a capacity of 
210 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the admission number from 30 to 60 
with effect from September 2015. 

3.22 The school governing body remain in favour of the proposal, but have some 
concerns around access and parking issues along Broadgate Lane. This concern 
had been raised by residents, parents and local ward members during the initial 
public consultation phase. Since that time, Leeds City Council Highways services 
team have conducted traffic and parking surveys and are working to identify 
options to address these concerns. 

3.23 Concern: Illegal and dangerous parking by parents on Broadgate Lane and 
surrounding streets will only increase with an expansion. 

Response: Following work carried out by Leeds City Council Highways services 
team, which has included parking and traffic surveys on Broadgate Lane and 
surround area, there are a several proposed measures to mitigate these issues 
which include: 

- Raising existing zebra crossings which would remove parking around these 
areas, create better and safer crossing points and reduce traffic speeds. 

- Implement speed cushions at the top and bottom of Broadgate Lane 

Page 13



 

 

- Create ‘no waiting at any time’ points around Broadgate Lane and King 
Edward Avenue, to alleviate the issue of parents parking across junctions 
and residents driveways 

3.24 Concern: Lack of parental drop off or parking areas, will only get worse if the 
school doubles in size. 

Response: This is a key issue that Children’s Services and Highways Services 
have been working to address and will continue to do so. So far a number of 
options have been considered and are still being worked on, these have included: 

Establishing a drop off area/turning circle for parents within the current school 
boundary. This was deemed too difficult and not cost effective and would require 
parents to reverse out of this exit very close to the zebra crossing. A number of 
mature trees would also need to be felled, which would likely cause objections 
from planning.  

Utilise land near to St Mary’s church to create additional parking. An initial survey 
of this land has been conducted and there is potential for up to 28 car parking 
spaces. The development of this land including the creation of an entrance needs 
to be fully costed, however there are concerns that this would not necessarily 
solve the problem of parking for Broadgate parents and may not be cost effective. 

Utilise the Brownlee Arms pub car park near to the top of Broadgate Lane as a 
park and stride option. The school themselves including the children have 
campaigned to use this area at least for morning drop off. The manager of the pub 
has indicated that morning would be difficult due to deliveries, but the Highways 
and Transport team are continuing to investigate this with the owners of the pub. 

Utilise Morrisons supermarket car park as a park and stride option. This has been 
agreed by all parties and a pilot park and stride is currently being developed and 
will be reviewed over a number of weeks to determine take-up and success. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The consultations in relation to all the proposals detailed above have been 
managed in accordance with all relevant legislation and local practice. The 
proposals were advertised widely. Where concerns were raised regarding lack of 
publicity, we have made changes to our processes to address this for future 
proposals. 

4.1.2 The statutory notices described were published in the newspaper (YEP), notices 
placed on the school gate as well as being advertised in the community. 
Information was also placed on the Leeds City Council website and Facebook for 
Farsley and Horsforth.  

4.1.3 Ward members in all wards city wide were formally consulted during the public 
consultation stage, both individually, and through area committees, where 

Page 14



 

 

appropriate, to ensure awareness of all proposals city wide and improved 
understanding of the impact of proposals in neighbouring areas. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 The EDCI impact assessments have been completed and are available on 
request from the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team. 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 These proposals have been brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty 
to secure sufficient school places. By providing places close to where children 
live, these proposals improve accessibility of local and desirable schools, thereby 
reducing the risk of non-attendance and reducing the length of the journey to 
school.   

4.3.2 A key objective within the Best Council Plan 2013-2017 is to build a child friendly 
city. The delivery of pupil places through Basic Need is one of the most baseline 
entitlements of a Child Friendly City. A good quality school place contributes to 
the achievement of targets within the Children and Young People’s Plan such as 
our obsession to ‘improve behaviour, attendance and achievement’. In addition, 
“Narrowing the Gap” and “Going up a League” agenda and is fundamental to the 
Leeds Education Challenge. 

4.3.3 A further objective of the Best Council Plan 2013-2017 is to ensure high quality 
public services. We want to promote choice and diversity for parents and families 
and deliver additional school places in the areas where families need them. 
Meeting this expectation while demonstrating the five values underpinning all we 
do is key to the basic need programme 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.4 The estimated cost of delivery of the expansion of the Farsley schools is 
£3.2million which will be funded from the education capital programme. The 
funding provides additional accommodation on each school site for the increased 
number of pupils. 

4.4.5 The estimated cost of delivery of the expansion of Broadgate Primary School is 
£3.7 million which will be funded from the education capital programme. The 
funding provides additional accommodation on the school site for the increased 
number of pupils. It also includes a substantial contingency to allow for off-site 
highway works in response to concerns raised by local residents and elected 
councillors. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 Leeds City Council’s Executive Board is the decision maker for proposals relating 
to school organisation. It has set up the School Organisation Advisory Board 
(SOAB) to consider proposals if representations are received during a statutory 
notice period, then make recommendations to the Executive Board.  

Page 15



 

 

4.5.2 Under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 a decision must be made within 
two months of expiry of the notices (therefore by 7 July 2014), or the matter will be 
referred to the school’s adjudicator for a decision. The decision maker can in each 
case:  

• Reject the proposal 
• Accept the proposal 
• Accept the proposal with a minor modification e.g. change of implementation 
date 

• Approve the proposals subject to them meeting a certain condition e.g. grant of 
planning permission 

4.5.3 The decision maker must give reasons for the decision irrespective of whether the 
proposals are rejected or approved indicating the main factors/criteria for the 
decision. SOAB should therefore provide appropriate comment with their 
recommendations. If the decision maker does not make a decision on the 
proposals within 2 months of the end of the statutory notice, the Authority must 
within one week refer the proposals to the Schools Adjudicator for a decision. 

4.5.4 Any significant modification to a proposal would require fresh consultation, and 
prevent places being realised for 2015. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 These proposals are required to ensure the authority meets its legal requirements 
to ensure sufficiency of primary provision for September 2015. There is evidence 
of local need for these places, and they offer choice and diversity to parents. Any 
significant change to the proposals at this stage would mean alternative solutions 
would not be secured in time for September 2015, and any delay would affect the 
deliverability of the physical accommodation in time.  

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Children’s Services believe that the issues raised throughout the consultation 
process do not present insurmountable barriers and that these can be addressed. 
Children’s Services asks that SOAB considers the issues raised and recommends 
to Executive Board that these proposals be approved.  

7 Background documents1  

7.1 Executive Board report 17 July 2013 – Permission to consult on primary 
expansions for Farsley 

7.2 Executive Board report 14 February 2014 – Outcome of consultation on proposals 
for expansion of primary provision in Farsley 

7.3 Executive Board report 6 November 2013 – Permission to consult on primary 
expansions for Horsforth 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 16



 

 

7.4 Executive Board report 5 March 2014 – Outcome of consultation on proposals for 
expansion of primary provision in Horsforth 

7.5 Consultation booklet for each proposal: 

7.6 Full proposals in relation to the above schools 

7.7 Copies of representations received.   

Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Farsley Planning Area

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

School Adm Lt 1st pref Alloc 1st pref Alloc

Farsley Farfield PS 60 36 29 33 43 35 56 60 55 60

Farsley Westroyd IS 60 63 79 78 89 98 70 61 76 60

Farsley Springbank JS 0 - - - - - - - - -

Valley View 60 60 77 75 86 82 30 44 40 75

Totals 180 159 185 186 218 215 156 165 171 195

Year Start School

2012 Data 2013 Data

Nearest children

Page 17



 

 

Appendix 2 
Transition

 

Page 18



 

 

 
Report of Director of Children’s Services  
Report to Executive Board 

Date: 17th July 2013 

Part A Basic Need Programme 2015 – Permission to consult on 
further proposals for expansion of primary provision in 2015  

Part B Proposal to Change the Status of Calverley CE (VC) Primary School from 
Voluntary Controlled to Voluntary Aided 
Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Wards: Calverley and Farsley   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

Part A 

1. The Basic Need programme represents the Council’s response to the demographic 
pressures in primary school provision. Through this programme it has now 
approved over 1020 new reception places since 2009.  Under the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 proposals to expand school provision constitute prescribed 
alterations requiring a statutory consultation process.  

2. At its meeting on 9 May the Executive Board considered a report requesting 
permission to consult on proposals for the expansion of existing primary provision in 
2015. Part A of this paper seeks permission to consult on the expansion of further 
provision in Calverley and Farsley.   

3. The first step in the process is a public consultation, which would run from 16 
September 2013 to 25 October 2013.  This report asks for permission to begin this 
consultation. 

4. These proposals form part of the ongoing work to address capacity and sufficiency 
across all of Children’s Services.  Papers will continue to be brought forward to 
address the sufficiency issues.  These proposals form part of the Council’s Basic 

 Report author: Sarah Sinclair  
Tel:  0113 3950216 

Page 19



 

 

Need Programme that embeds the ‘one council’ approach that has achieved shared 
ownership of proposed solutions.  

• Part B 

1. The Governing Body of Calverley CE Voluntary Controlled (VC) Primary School has 
published proposals on a change of status to Voluntary Aided (VA).  They have also 
carried out public consultation on this proposal. 

2. In this case the Governors of the school are the proposers who have published the 
proposal and the Local Authority is the decision maker. The Governors have a right 
of appeal to the schools adjudicator if they disagree with the LA decision. 

3. Members can decide to:  

• reject the proposal; 

• approve the proposal; 

• approve the proposal with a modification e.g. the implementation date; 

• approve the proposal subject to meeting a specific condition and giving 
reasons for the decision. 

Recommendations 

Part A 

Executive Board is asked to: 

• Give permission to consult on the expansion of Calverley Church of England 
Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the 
admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2015; 

• Give permission to consult on a linked proposal to expand Farsley Westoyd Infant 
School from a capacity of 180 pupils to 210 pupils and raise the upper age limit 
from 7 to 11 with effect from September 2015; 

• Give permission to consult on a linked proposal to expand Farsley Springbank 
Junior School from a capacity of 240 pupils to 420 pupils and change the lower age 
limit from 7 to 4 with effect from September 2015. 

Part B 

Executive Board is asked to: 

• Approve the proposal published by the Governing Body of Calverley CE Primary                                                             
School to change the school status from Voluntary Controlled to Voluntary Aided 
with an implementation date of 31st August 2013. 

 

Page 20



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 Part A of this report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the 
local authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. It seeks permission to 
commence public consultation on further proposals for the expansion of primary 
provision in the city from September 2015.  In regards to part B of the report, it 
provides members with information upon which to take a decision on proposals 
published by the Governing Body of Calverley CE (VC) Primary School to change 
the schools status from Voluntary Controlled to Voluntary Aided.  

2 Background information 

  Part A 

2.1 At its meeting on 9 May the Executive Board considered a report requesting 
permission to consult on proposals for the expansion of existing primary provision 
in 2015. This report seeks permission to consult on three further proposals. These 
proposals were brought forward as part of a range of measures to ensure the 
authority meets its statutory duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. Under the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 the proposals described in this report 
constitute prescribed alterations requiring a statutory process.  

2.2 Subject to Executive Board approval, the expansion proposals for 2015 would be 
followed by the publication of a statutory notice before a final decision is made.  

2.3 These proposals form part of the ongoing work to address capacity and sufficiency 
across all of Children’s Services, which includes provision for primary and 
secondary school places, early years, as well as specialist provision. It includes 
the impact of underlying demographic growth, as well as the core housing 
strategy. Further papers will continue to be brought forward in 2013 to further 
address the emerging sufficiency issues.   

Part B 

2.4 The Education and Inspections Act 2006 revised the procedures for making 
changes to school provision. These are set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 as 
amended by the School Organisation and Governance (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2007 and the School Organisation and Governance (Amendment) 
(England ) Regulations 2009. 

2.5 In this case the Governors of the school are the proposers who have published 
the proposal and the Local Authority is the decision maker. The Governors have a 
right of appeal to the schools adjudicator. 

2.6 In considering a change of category to Voluntary Aided the decision maker must 
be satisfied that the Governing Body are able and willing to meet their financial 
responsibilities for building work. This can include considering whether the 
Governing Body has access to sufficient funds to enable it to meet 10% of its 
overall liabilities for at least 5 years from the date of implementation, taking into 
account anticipated building projects. There are no building projects arising 

Page 21



 

 

directly from this proposal and the maintenance of the existing building is 
considered at paragraph 4.4.3.  

3 Main issues 

Part A 

 3.1 Under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 these proposals constitute 
prescribed alterations requiring a statutory consultation process, of which the first 
step is public consultation, which would run from 16 September 2013 to 25 
October 2013.  Depending on the issues raised, approval could be sought to 
proceed to the statutory notice stage in the autumn of 2013 and to a final decision 
in the spring of 2014.  

3.2 Proposal one: to expand Calverley Church of England Primary School from 
a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the admission 
number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2015.   

3.3 The expansion of this school would provide an additional 15 places in the 
Calverley area which has traditionally seen a high demand for primary school 
places.  Whilst birth figures have fluctuated over recent years, there is now 
sustained demand for additional capacity, with an increase in the number of 
children in Calverley due to enter reception in 2015 and in 2016.  Additional 
permanent places are required to provide a local school for local children. The 
school will take an additional cohort of up to 15 children in reception in September 
2013 to manage an increase in pupil numbers. 

3.4 Expanding the school from 1.5 to 2 forms of entry would also bring the opportunity 
to establish single age classes and deliver a more efficient revenue structure for 
the school. The governing body have expressed their support to begin 
consultation.  

3.5  Proposals two and three: linked proposals to raise the upper age limit and 
expand Farsley Westroyd Infant School and lower the lower age limit and 
expand Farsley Springbank Junior School.  

3.6 Birth data indicates an increased demand for primary places.  Whilst children 
living in Stanningley and Pudsey have consistently applied for places in schools in 
the Farsley area, with a third of the 120 places available being previously taken up 
by children who do not live nearest to the schools, 2015 and 2016 will show 
notable increases in the number of reception aged children living in  Farsley. 
There is a need to create additional places for children living  in Farsley. The 
establishment of two primary schools will help to manage this demand.   

3.7 Proposal two: expand Farsley Westroyd Infant School from a capacity of 
180 pupils to 210 pupils and raise the upper age limit from 7 to 11 with effect 
from September 2015.  If the proposal moves forward, the school would change 
from a 2 form entry infant school to a one form entry primary school.  The 
governing body of the school support the move to consultation on expansion.  

Page 22



 

 

3.8 Proposal three: expand Farsley Springbank Junior School from a capacity 
of 240 pupils to 420 pupils and lower the upper age limit from 7 to 4 with 
effect from September 2015. If the proposal moves forward, the school would 
change from a 2 form entry junior school to a two form entry primary school. The 
governing body of the school support the move to consultation on expansion.    

3.9 As indicated earlier the proposals in this report seek to address the immediate 
pressure for school places. Members will be aware that through the LDF the 
Council is proposing significant new housing in all parts of the district. The Core 
Strategy identifies a need to find land for an additional 4,700 dwellings in Outer 
West Leeds which will inevitably create a significant additional need for school 
places. Whilst some 2040 dwellings can be accommodated on land with planning 
permission or allocated housing sites the majority (2660) will be on sites that have 
yet to be determined.  The Council is currently in the initial stages of consultation 
on its Site Allocations Plan. Although the future distribution of housing is therefore 
uncertain this will inevitably require new schools as well as extensions where 
these are acceptable and appropriate. Sites now under consideration in the Site 
Allocations plan may therefore need to be considered (in whole or in part) for 
school use rather than housing or employment, particularly where they are well 
related to the major areas of population, on the basis that smaller settlements will 
generally see less growth that might be more readily accommodated by a school 
extension or be of insufficient size to warrant a new school. In this respect we are 
already considering the potential of the site at Kirklees Knowl to help meet this 
future need. However, at this stage no firm decision has been taken.      

 
   Part B 

3.10 The school’s Governing Body resolved at its meeting on 5th July 2012 to consult     
on changing the category of the school to Voluntary Aided. This set in motion the 
first stage of the process described in the Regulations requiring a proposer to 
consult all interested parties. The consultation document (attached as Appendix A) 
was published that detailed the implications for the school that a change of status 
would have in terms of: 

• Ethos; 

• The National Curriculum; 

• Inclusion; 

• Staffing; 

• Religious Education; 

• Collective Worship; 

• Governing Body; 

• Admissions; 

• Improvements to the building. 

Page 23



 

 

3.11 The initial consultation took place between 9th November 2012 and 21st December 
2012 during which a public meeting was held at the school on 6th December 2012. 
A representative of the Diocesan Director of Education of the Diocese of Bradford 
Ripon and Leeds and a Local Authority Officer were in attendance at the public 
meeting. It is worth noting that during the meeting it was made clear that the 
proposal does not include any alterations to the current admission policy for the 
school. This is a separate issue that would be considered by the new Governing 
Body, as it would be required to do every year as its Own Admissions Authority, 
and any proposed changes would be consulted on as prescribed by the national 
Admissions Code. The Governing Body would have to consult on its admissions 
policy for the admissions round in September 2015 in November/December 2013. 

3.12 At its last Ofsted inspection the school was considered to be performing at a 
satisfactory level and the governors are now aspiring to achieve a good rating at 
the next inspection. The school is at floor targets and is using all avenues, 
including attaining Voluntary Aided status, to ensure good teaching and outcomes. 
The ambition is to raise the aspirations of local parents and for local families to 
want to send their children to the school. 

3.13 There were fifteen written responses to the consultation all from parents of 
children at the school. Of these thirteen were in favour of the proposal and two 
were against it. The concern that was raised in these responses related to the 
admissions policy of the school being set by the governing body. A public meeting 
was held at the school and although the meeting concentrated on the schools 
admission policy, the feeling towards this proposal was positive. It was made clear 
at the time that the proposal does not include any changes to the current policy but 
if approved the change in status would result in the new Governing Body 
becoming its ‘Own Admissions Authority’ as described at 3.2. Any future changes 
to the Admissions policy would need to be consulted upon, as prescribed in the 
national Admissions Code.     

3.14 The Governing Body considered the responses on 15th January 2013 and decided 
to proceed with the next stage of the process and publish a statutory notice. The 
notice was published on 15th April 2013 and there followed a 6 week statutory 
representation period during which comments and expressions of support or 
objections can be made. Any views expressed will be taken into account by the 
decision maker.  

3.15 The 6 week period ended on 27th May 2013 and there were no further responses. 

3.16 A decision on the proposal must be taken by the Local Authority within 2 months of 
the end of the representation period with rights of appeal to the schools 
adjudicator. 

3.17 The proposed implementation date is 31st August 2013 to coincide with the start of 
the new academic year. The Governing Body must be reconstituted as soon as 
reasonably practicable but within 3 months of the implementation date. There 
would be a change of employer for the school staff from the implementation date. 
All rights, powers, duties and liabilities transfer from the Authority to the Governing 
Body. 

Page 24



 

 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The consultation process in respect of proposals to expand primary provision in 
2015 will be carried out in line with good practice and in accordance with relevant 
legislation. Drop in sessions will be offered alongside public meetings where 
appropriate.   

4.1.2 In respect of the proposal to change the status of Calverley C of E Primary School, 
the Governing Body has carried out public consultation as prescribed in the 
Regulations.  This includes consultation with ward members, the Diocese, staff and 
parents and other stakeholders. A public meeting was held on 6 December 2012. 
Following this a statutory notice was published on 15th April 2013. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Equality Impact Screening forms have been completed in relation to each proposal 
in the report and are attached at appendix 1, 2 and 3. 

 Part B 

4.2.2 The decision has no direct implications for any places reserved for pupils with 
Special Educational Needs. 

4.2.3 The Government’s aim is to transform the school system and the Regulations 
specify that part of that vision is to create a more diverse school system offering 
excellence and choice. The Regulations state that decision makers should consider 
how proposals will contribute to local diversity. They should consider the range of 
schools in the area and whether the alteration to the school will meet the aspirations 
of parents, help raise local standards and narrow attainment gaps. There are 
currently no other Church of England Voluntary Aided primary schools serving this 
community and the Diocese has expressed strong support for the proposal. 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

Part A 

4.3.1 The proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places. Providing places close to where children 
live allows improved accessibility to local and desirable school places, and thus 
reduces the risk of non-attendance.  

Part B 

4.3.2 The Council has a statutory duty to act as the decision maker for the proposal 
published by the Governing Body of Calverley CE Primary School. The authority for 
taking such a decision rests with the Executive Board. If it is unable to take a 
decision within 2 months of the conclusion of the statutory notice period the 
decision must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator. 

4.4  Resources and value for money  

Page 25



 

 

  Part A 

4.4.1 The high level estimated cost of delivery of the proposals is £4.9M which will be 
funded through the education capital programme. Feasibility studies will be 
commissioned at risk for all projects and the outcomes of this are expected during 
autumn 2013. Early highways design work will commence alongside the feasibility 
studies with the outcomes of this expected during late autumn/winter 2013. 

Part B 

4.4.2 The majority of capital expenditure for Voluntary Aided Schools is provided by 
Central Government but the Governing Body is required to make a 10% 
contribution. 

4.4.3 As described in paragraph 2.6 the decision maker must be satisfied that a 
Governing Body is able to meet its financial responsibilities for building work. To 
evidence this, the Governing Body has provided a copy of the schools Asset 
Management Plan that was last surveyed in June 2008. All of the priority 
maintenance items highlighted at the time have already been rectified and there are 
no significant liabilities. The school has completed all of the building work identified 
in its Premises Development Plan and has provided a revenue budget statement to 
demonstrate that in addition to any Devolved Formula Capital funding that it 
receives it also has a healthy budget balance to meet the cost of any unforeseen 
maintenance that might arise. The school will also have access to the Locally Co-
ordinated VA Programme for capital building works. 

4.4.4 The Department for Education provides Form 18, a statement of governors’ 
resources to defray expenses which would fall to be borne by them.  This has been 
signed by the Diocesan Director of Education.  

4.4.5   A change to Voluntary Aided status will not affect the schools revenue funding. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 In respect of both parts A and B of this report, the process that have been and will 
be followed are in accordance with the Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set 
out in the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2007 as amended by the School Organisation and 
Governance (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2007 and the School 
Organisation and Governance (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2009. 

4.5.2 In respect of part B, the school Governing Body is the proposer of the change of   
status and the Council is the decision maker.  

4.6  Risk Management 

Part A 

4.6.1 A detailed risk register will be established and will be maintained for each project.  
It is necessary to progress feasibility design work at risk during the public 
consultation stage; however the decision to proceed to detailed design stages will 
be dependent on approval to progress to the latter stages of the statutory process.  

Page 26



 

 

Therefore any delay to the statutory process will increase the risk of delayed 
delivery of the building solution or financial risk of abortive design fees being 
incurred. 

4.6.2 The risk of objections through the planning process will be mitigated by engaging 
in early and detailed discussions with colleagues in City Development.   
 
Part B 

4.6.3 If members decide not to approve the proposal there is a right of appeal to the 
school adjudicator. The Governing Body and the Church of England Diocese can 
exercise the right of appeal. Appeals must be submitted to the Authority within 4 
weeks of the notification of the decision and the Authority must send the proposal 
and the representations to the schools adjudicator within 1 week of receipt. 

5 Conclusions 

Part A 

5.1 The proposals for increasing primary provision in 2015 form part of the authority’s 
ongoing planning to meet the need for school places.  This work involves other 
council directorates to ensure holistic planning and best use of corporate assets. 

Part B 

5.2       Members can decide to: 

• Reject the proposal 

• Approve the proposal 

• Approve the proposal with a modification eg: the implementation date 

• Approve the proposal subject to them meeting a specific condition and giving 
reasons for the decision 

6 Recommendations 

Part A 

Executive Board is asked to: 

• Give permission to consult on the expansion of Calverley Church of England 
Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the 
admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2015; 

• Give permission to consult on a linked proposal to expand Farsley Westoyd Infant 
School from a capacity of 180 pupils to 210 pupils and raise the upper age limit 
from 7 to 11 with effect from September 2015; 

Page 27



 

 

• Give permission to consult on a linked proposal to expand Farsley Springbank 
Junior School from a capacity of 240 pupils to 420 pupils and change the lower age 
limit from 7 to 4 with effect from September 2015. 

Part B 

Executive Board is asked to: 

• approve the proposal published by the Governing Body of Calverley CE Primary                                                             
School to change the school status from Voluntary Controlled to Voluntary Aided 
with an implementation date of 31st August  2013. 

7. Background documents1  

There are no background documents to this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 28



 

 

Report of Director of Children’s Services 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 14th February 2014  

Subject: Outcome of consultation on the proposal to increase 
primary provision in Farsley 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Calverley and Farsley   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. At its meeting in July the Executive Board gave permission to consult on a proposal 
to increase primary school places in Farsley by converting Farsley Westroyd Infant 
School and Farsley Springbank Junior School into two primary schools.  

2. It was agreed to consult on increasing the capacity at Farsley Westroyd Infant 
School from 180 pupils to 210 pupils and raise the upper age limit from 7 to 11 with 
effect from September 2015. 

3. It was also agreed to consult on a linked proposal to increase the capacity at 
Farsley Springbank Junior School from 240 to 420 and change the lower age limit 
from 7 to 4 with effect from September 2015. 

4. This report presents the outcome of the statutory consultation on these linked 
proposals and seeks approval to publish a statutory notice as described below. 

Recommendations 

5. Executive Board is asked to approve the publication of a statutory notice to:  

• increase the capacity at Farsley Westroyd Infant School from 180 pupils to 210 
pupils and raise the upper age limit from 7 to 11;  

 Report author:  Sarah Sinclair 

Tel:  24 75924 

Page 29



 

 

• increase the capacity at Farsley Springbank Junior school from 240 to 420 and 
change the lower age limit from 7 to 4 with effect from September 2015; and 

• note the officer responsible for implementation is the Capacity, Planning and 
Sufficiency Lead. 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report contains details of a linked proposal brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. This report seeks permission 
to publish a statutory notice in relation to the expansion of Farsley Westroyd Infant 
School and Farsley Springbank Junior School. 

2 Background information 

2.1 In July, the Executive Board approved permission to consult on a proposal to 
expand Farsley Westroyd Infant School from a capacity of 180 pupils to 210 pupils 
and raise the upper age limit from 7 to 11 and expand Farsley Springbank Junior 
School from a capacity of 240 pupils to 420 pupils and change the lower age limit 
from 7 to 4 with effect from September 2015. 

3 Main issues 

3.1 The consultation was conducted from 16 September to 25 October 2013 in line with 
government guidance and local practice. Ward members were consulted prior to 
and during the formal consultation period. Public meetings and drop-in sessions 
were held and information was distributed through both schools, Early Years 
providers, local publications, local shops, churches and playgroups. A summary of 
the issues raised follows and copies of the written responses, public meeting notes 
and additional analyses referred to can be found at www.leeds.gov.uk or requested 
from the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team at educ.school. 
organisation@leeds.gov.uk   

3.2 In response to questions raised during the public consultation process specifically 
about the physical building solution; further public consultation events were 
arranged on 21st October at Westroyd and 24th October at Springbank.  These 
events presented the emerging design options in order to provide confirmation that 
concerns raised during previous meetings were being addressed.  Feedback at both 
sessions was positive and has helped the ongoing design development. 

3.3 During the consultation period 75 responses were received, which were mainly from 
parents (46%) with 37% from staff and 8% from residents. 65% of the responses 
agreed with the proposals and 35% of the responses disagreed. 

3.4 Both governing bodies are in favour of the proposals.  

3.5 Numerous positive comments were received and are summarised as follows: 

• These changes would create local school places for local children. This should also 
reduce the need for people using their cars to travel to drop their children off at 
school. 

Page 30



 

 

• Creating a 1FE primary school at Farsley Westroyd Infant School will return it to 
being a village school where the staff will know all the children’s names. 

• Having 2 primary schools (1FE and 2 FE) would be better in Farsley than a 3FE 
infant and junior school model.  Creating two primary schools will create better staff 
development opportunities. 

• Creating two primary schools will create consistency for the children and remove 
transition issues between KS1 and KS2. Siblings will be at the same school and will 
reduce costs for parents as they will only have to buy one uniform. 

• Farsley Westroyd Infant School may be a small site however there is confidence in 
the management team that it will be managed well and they will ensure the best 
outcome for the children. 

3.6 The following issues and concerns were also raised throughout the consultation 
period: 

3.6.1 Concern: There is not enough internal or external space at Farsley Westroyd Infant 
School for the number of extra children expected. 
Response: It is recognised that the Westroyd site is relatively small, however it is of 
a similar size to other successful 1FE primary schools in Leeds and the overall site 
and buildings are within the range recommended within national guidance.  The 
school are a key member of the design team and are supportive of a proposed 
solution that requires only minor extension to the main school building, with no loss 
of play space or car parking.  As the need is for 1 additional classroom, it has been 
agreed that there is a clear educational benefit to this being provided as an 
extension to the existing nursery building to create a Foundation unit.  This will also 
allow the external space on the nursery site to be developed further.  It is 
acknowledged that the site is not large and there would not be external green space 
on the school site for on-site PE. However, there would be suitable indoor and hard 
play areas, and access could be arranged for off-site provision in the same way 
that, for example, swimming lessons are currently provided off-site for primary 
schools. Schools are used to managing the safe transportation of children and this 
would not be a safeguarding concern. 

 
3.6.2 Concern: Concerns around transition between Farsley Westroyd Infant School and 

Farsley Springbank Junior School during the changes, particularly with regard to 
sibling priorities.  
Response: The transition arrangements would allow for 60 year 3 places at 
Springbank for three years to enable those who wished to transfer to Springbank as 
they had intended on entering Westroyd to do so. Children in Westroyd would 
automatically be entitled to stay on and complete their primary education there. This 
would allow for maximum parental choice. As a part of this statutory process we can 
describe the transition arrangements that will apply for the schools, and this 
overwrites the admissions policy for its duration. The proposed transition 
arrangements allow sibling priorities to be applied to both older and younger 
siblings. No admissions arrangements can ever provide an absolute guarantee of 
places, but these will ensure in practical terms that the children attending Westroyd 

Page 31



 

 

will have priority for the Springbank places. Full details of the commitments are in 
appendix 1. 
 

3.6.3 Concern: The changes will make Farsley Westroyd Infant School vulnerable as 
parents will choose Farsley Springbank Junior School due to better facilities and 
more space. 
Response: The evidence in previous infant and junior conversions is that some 
parents prefer to stay at the former infant school. In part, this will be influenced by 
their location and family situation. Ultimately, the school believe that their future as a 
full primary school, able to offer a wider range of extra-curricular and main 
curriculum activities, and to attract and retain a wider range of staff and offer a 
broader range of staff career opportunities will make the school more secure. 
 

3.6.4 Concern: Parking and traffic is already an issue at both schools, these expansions 
will only make it worse. 
Response: Children’s Services have commenced engagement with officers within 
the relevant parts of the Highways department with the aim of ensuring that the 
impact on the surrounding road and footpath infrastructure is minimised in so far as 
this is possible.  Options being considered at this stage are extended opening 
times; staggered pick up and drop off times; walking buses, and options for parents 
to park further away from the school and walk. Child safety is a key priority and we 
would try to ensure that staff cars are off the road. These proposals may reduce the 
number of car journeys between the two schools. It is our policy to encourage 
children to walk to school. If we do need to use play space for parking, then it would 
be re-provided elsewhere.  As Springbank becomes a new primary school there are 
expected to be fewer car journeys by parents who have children on both sites; and 
children who live closer to the Springbank site will not need to travel to the 
Westroyd site to a KS1 school place. 
 

3.6.5 Concern: The building work will disrupt the children and staff which will affect their 
work/learning. 
Response: Building works will take place out of school hours wherever possible. 
Where this is not possible, work would be carried out with the minimum disruption to 
the pupils, staff and residents. We have considerable experience of managing 
building projects on school sites in a safe and secure manner, and there would be a 
full risk assessment carried out. 
 

3.6.6 Concern: Staff at both schools are only experienced in teaching KS1 and KS2 
separately, not primary aged children. 
Response: All teaching staff are trained to teach the primary age range. Both 
schools already employ staff with experience of the ‘other’ age range. Both schools 
would need more staff in the long term, and would consider any gaps in experience 
when recruiting. Any remaining skills gaps would be identified and training and 
support would be provided. 
 

3.6.7 Concern: Consider using the Scout hut site on Newlands.  
Response: The specific suggestion to utilise this site was put forward as an idea to 
allow the potential expansion of the infant and junior schools. The suggestion was 
to expand Springbank as a 3FE junior school, and the infant school would use the 
nursery, scout hut and main infant sites to expand as 3FE infant school. Initial 

Page 32



 

 

investigations confirm that this is a council owned site and so could be considered. 
There is significant concern about the infant school having to manage a split site 
across three sites, given the fact that this would place reception aged pupils in a 
single classroom on this site and this has accordingly been ruled out. Potential use 
as a staff car park or a site for parental parking during drop-off or pick-up times 
remain as options.  These will be further considered throughout the detailed design 
process.  

3.6.8 Counter proposal: Consider keeping the infant school unchanged, and change 
Springbank into a primary school with 30 reception places, and also keep admitting 
an extra 60 children into year 3 for the Westroyd children to join.  
Response: The counter proposal addresses many of the concerns about this 
proposal and offers other options. It would require one further class base at the 
junior site in addition to the accommodation required for the two form entry primary 
school model proposed. It would create the extra 30 places, whilst retaining the 
option of an infant and junior as well as primary school options. It would increase 
access to Farsley schools for Farsley residents because a new admission point for 
reception would still be created at Springbank. It would ensure all KS2 children had 
outdoor playing field provision on site at the school.  
However, on balance it is not the preferred option. Perhaps most importantly from 
an educational perspective it does not remove the risks of transition associated with 
infant and junior schools, instead it makes them more complex, risking the 
outcomes for children. It would mean that the benefits of consistency and continuity 
of care which the original proposal offers are lost, and that the transition risks 
remain for the majority of pupils. The schools would lose the benefits of becoming 
primary schools; that is the opportunity to attract and retain staff and offer greater 
breadth and depth of professional experience. This in turn would impact on the 
opportunities that the children had. 

3.6.9 Concern: The potential housing at Kirklees Knoll will necessitate a new school 
anyway, and that should be pursued instead. 
Response: The proposal is brought forward on the basis of the children who are 
already living in the area. Should the Kirklees Knoll project go forward this will 
produce further demand, estimated at half a form of entry across every year group. 
A S106 agreement has been drawn up with the developer that would contribute to a 
new school being provided on the site if the development went ahead. However the 
timing of this means that it could not be brought forward soon enough to meet the 
needs of the children already in the area. Meeting those needs in a timely manner 
forms an essential part of our drive to become a child friendly city, and meet our 
obsessions. At this stage, securing the land for a new school is an essential 
precaution, however there remains a significant funding gap, not least to acquire the 
land for the school, and all options will be evaluated if the building proposals are 
approved. The impact on neighbouring schools and their ability to expand would 
also be taken into consideration.  

 

3.7 Concerns were also raised regarding the effectiveness of our communication 
methods, notably the lack of social media presence. Consideration has been given 
to these comments and measures have already been put in place to pilot a 
Facebook page for the next round of consultations.  Additional meetings were held 
during the latter stages of the consultation to present the emerging design options, 

Page 33



 

 

and this has also been repeated in subsequent consultations.  In particular there 
was concern about the gap between the Executive Board decision to give 
permission to consult in July and the delay during the summer holidays before the 
consultation began in September.  The timings were to ensure the statutory 
consultation could be carried out within the first half of the autumn term, as 
consultation during the long summer break is considered poor practice. 
Improvements to our consultation processes form part of our efforts to become a 
child friendly city, and be open and honest in our work.  

3.8 There was an issue with our online response form due to a problem involving some 
versions of Adobe Acrobat resulting in responses not submitting correctly. We were 
unaware of this technical issue until the very end of the consultation period, when a 
respondent drew attention to the problem. We endeavoured to contact all relevant 
parties to inform them of this issue and allowed the resubmission of responses for a 
further week following the original deadline. We have taken steps to ensure that this 
issue will not occur again by using the Talking Point facility through the Leeds City 
Council website.  Other methods of response including paper forms and email were 
not affected. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 These consultations were managed in accordance with all relevant legislation and 
 local practice. Ward members in all wards city wide were formally consulted at the 
 public consultation stage, both individually, and through area committee meetings 
 to ensure awareness of all proposals city wide and improved understanding of the 
 impact of proposals in bordering wards. 

4.1.2 Feedback was received during and after the consultation on the process of 
consultation itself rather than the proposal.  A local parent created a website to 
generate further interest locally and also provided suggestions about how 
consultation might be improved.  Some of these suggestions have led to changes in 
the way social media is used, better explanation of the processes involved, and 
additional meetings to present the emerging design options. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 The screening forms for these proposals have previously been published as part of 
a report to Executive Board in July 2013. They are therefore not attached to this 
report. 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds. Providing 
places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and 
desirable school places, and thus reduces the risk of non-attendance. 

4.3.2 A key objective within the Best Council Plan 2013-2017 is to build a child friendly 
city. The delivery of pupil places through Basic Need is one of the most baseline 

Page 34



 

 

entitlements of a Child Friendly City. A good quality school place contributes to the 
achievement of targets within the Children and Young People’s Plan such as our 
obsession to ‘improve behaviour, attendance and achievement’. In addition, 
“Narrowing the Gap” and “Going up a League” agenda and is fundamental to the 
Leeds Education Challenge. 

4.3.3 A further objective of the Best Council Plan 2013-2017 is to ensure high quality 
public services. We want to promote choice and diversity for parents and families 
and deliver additional school places in the areas where families need them. Meeting 
this expectation while demonstrating the five values underpinning all we do is key to 
the basic need programme. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The total estimated cost of both projects is approximately £3.2m.  Each project has 
progressed through early design stages and detailed design will commence if 
Executive Board approve the publication of the statutory notices.  Planning 
applications and requests for the Authority to spend will follow for each project at 
the appropriate time. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The processes that have been and will be followed are in accordance with the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 as 
amended by the School Organisation and Governance (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2007 and the School Organisation and Governance (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2009. 

4.5.2 Although new regulations came into force in January 2014 this proposal was 
brought forward under the regulations specified above and is required to continue 
through to completion under the same regulations. 

4.5.3   This report is subject to call in 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 A detailed risk register would be established and would be maintained for each 
project.  It is necessary to progress feasibility design work at risk during the public 
consultation stage; however the decision to proceed to detailed design stages will 
be dependent on approval to progress to the latter stages of the statutory process.  
Therefore any delay to the statutory process will increase the risk of delayed 
delivery of the building solution or financial risk of abortive design fees being 
incurred. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city we 
will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough school 
places for the children is one of our top priorities. These proposals have been 
brought forward to meet that need, and following the appropriate consultation we 
now seek to move them to the next stage. They will ensure that children in Leeds 

Page 35



 

 

will have the best possible start to their learning, and so deliver our vision of a child 
friendly city. 

5.2 The issues raised during the consultation period have been considered, and on 
balance, the proposals for expanding primary school place provision in Farsley by 
expanding Farsley Westroyd Infant School from a capacity of 180 pupils to 210 
pupils and raising the upper age limit from 7 to 11 and expanding Farsley 
Springbank Junior School from a capacity of 240 pupils to 420 pupils and changing 
the lower age limit from 7 to 4 are still considered to provide the most appropriate 
solution for the area.  

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is asked to approve the publication of a statutory notice to: 

• expand Farsley Westroyd Infant School from a capacity of 180 pupils to 210 pupils 
and raise the upper age limit from 7 to 11 with effect from September 2015; 

• expand Farsley Springbank Junior School from a capacity of 240 pupils to 420 
pupils and change the lower age limit from 7 to 4 with effect from September 2015; 
and 

• note the officer responsible for implementation is the Capacity, Planning and 
Sufficiency Lead. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 36



 

 

Appendix 1 
 
Additional information regarding transition options during the proposed changes to both 

schools. It provides reassurances about the sibling priorities, and aims to simplify it. 

1. Who gets priority for places in year 3 at Springbank during transition – will the 

Westroyd children be guaranteed a place? 

This current priority does not strictly guarantee anyone a place now, but the transition plan 

keeps the 60 places in year 3 at Springbank. The current policy gives priority first to 

Children Who Are Looked After and those with SEN, then to siblings, next to children 

moving from the linked schools, before using nearest school and straight line distance as 

the final criteria. This priority gives a very high level of assurance that those applying to 

move between schools are able to do so. This will not change under the proposals, and 

the same level of assurance would remain as a minimum.  

Just as now, some children in Westroyd may choose to enter a different primary school or 

move out of the area, meaning they do not need a place at the junior school.  

Under the proposal some children are likely to choose to exercise their right to stay at 

Westroyd, meaning there would be ‘spare’ places at Springbank. Because of the 

admission policy priorities this means there would be even less chance of any child 

applying for Springbank from Westroyd being unable to gain a place. We do not currently 

see large numbers of applications from children settled at other schools to go to 

Springbank. 

The process of making these changes includes the publication of a statutory notice which 

allows us to write in a legally binding transition plan which overwrites the admissions 

policy.  

We will recommend that children at Westroyd during the transition period continue to 

receive priority for year 3 places at Springbank. 

This is not the same as a guarantee, but gives at least the same level of assurance as 

exists now. We do guarantee that an admission number of 60 will continue into year 3 at 

Springbank during 2015, 2016 and 2017. 

2. Sibling priority – can we ensure siblings get priority whichever schools they 

choose? 

Under the current policy children who apply to join a school that their older sibling will be at 

get priority for a place. This includes where the older child has moved to the junior school 

and the younger child wishes to join the infant school. 

During consultation we were clear that we have no plans to change the sibling priority and 

it will remain. Again, we can ensure that this continues to apply during transition, by 

including the details of the statutory notice. Furthermore some extensions to this sibling 

priority during the transition period can also be considered.  

Page 37



 

 

We will recommend that: 

1) The statutory notice confirms the admissions arrangements during the transition period 

for the two schools, ensuring this policy continues even though they would technically 

become primary schools rather than infant and juniors, and ensuring the link works 

across both schools. This would mean that: 

 

a) Younger siblings applying for a reception place at Westroyd in 2015, 2016 and 2017 

where an older sibling has already moved up to Springbank will continue to get 

sibling priority for Westroyd because it is a linked school, i.e. the same as now even 

though they’ve become primary schools by this point. 

It should be noted that in this case the younger child would be entering a primary 

school and would not have the opportunity to move to Springbank in year 3. 

 

b) Younger siblings applying for a reception place at Springbank in 2015, 2016 and 

2017 where the older child has already moved to Springbank will get sibling priority 

for Springbank because it is the same school. Likewise younger siblings joining 

Westroyd in 2015, 2016 and 2017 where an older sibling has not left Westroyd will 

also get sibling priority for Westroyd. In these cases there is no need to rely on the 

linked school part of the policy, they are simply joining the same school. 

This includes where the older child is moving into year 3 at the same time as the 

younger child joins reception, as we will continue to allocate the junior places 

immediately before allocating the reception places. 

 

c) Younger siblings applying for a reception place at Springbank in 2015, 2016 and 

2017 that have an older sibling who has entered reception at Westroyd in 2012, 

2013 or 2014 but has not yet moved into year 3 at either school will get sibling 

priority for Springbank. That is, the younger child would gain sibling priority for 

Springbank based on the older child’s attendance at Westroyd. 

 

2) Agree an exception that during the transition period sibling priority is not just given to 

younger siblings by older ones attending the linked schools, but also given to older 

siblings by younger ones. This will mean that in example c above, when an older child 

comes to move up into year 3 they will receive sibling priority for Springbank from a 

younger child already there.  

 

Year 3 places will be allocated before reception places to make sure the sibling priority 

applies for the younger child where both seek to enter Springbank in the same year. 

Further information is available in a separate transition plan document below. 

 

Page 38



 

 

TRANSITION TABLES        
 
 

Westroyd Infant School, transition to primary school table         

Start 
Date 

Reception Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Sept 
2013 

60 60 60 No entry to these year groups 

Sept 
2014 

60 60 60 No entry to these year groups 

Sept 
2015* 

30 60 60 0-60 No entry to these year groups 

Sept 
2016 

30 30 60 0-60 0-60                                                                                                                           
No entry to these 

year groups 

Sept 
2017** 

30 30 30 0-60 0-60 0-60 

No entry 
to year 
group 

Sept 
2018 

30 30 30 30 0-60 0-60 0-60 

Sept 
2019 

30 30 30 30 30 0-60 0-60 

Sept 
2020 

30 30 30 30 30 30 0-60 

Sept 
2021 

30 30 30 30 30 30 30 

 
 

Springbank Junior School, transition to primary school table         

Start 
Date 

Reception Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Sept 
2013 

No entry to these year groups 60 60 60 60 

Sept 
2014 

No entry to these year groups 60 60 60 60 

Sept 
2015* 

60 
No entry to these 

year groups 
0-60 60 60 60 

Sept 
2016 

60 60 
No entry 
to year 
group 

0-60 0-60 60 60 

Sept 
2017** 

60 60 60 0-60 0-60 0-60 60 

Sept 
2018 

60 60 60 60 0-60 0-60 0-60 

Sept 
2019 

60 60 60 60 60 0-60 0-60 

Sept 
2020 

60 60 60 60 60 60 0-60 

Sept 
2021 

60 60 60 60 60 60 60 

 

Page 39



 

 

The grey boxes indicate the year groups that will not have any children admitted in those particular 
years. 
 
* 2015 - Primary schools established, admitting 30 children into reception at Westroyd and 60 
children into reception at Springbank. 
 
** 2017 - The last year that children moving into year 3 at the Infant school, have the option to 
transfer to the junior school. 
 
TRANSITION TABLES         
 
 
Key: 
 

 
Children in year 2 at Westroyd in 2013 will move to Springbank into year 3 in 2014 

 
 

 Children in year 1 at Westroyd in 2013 will have the option to stay through to year 6 or 
join year 3 at Springbank in 2015 

 
 

 Children in reception at Westroyd in 2013 will have the option to stay through to year 6 
or join year 3 at Springbank in 2016 

 
 

 Children starting reception at Westroyd in 2014 will have the option to stay through to 
year 6 or join year 3 at Springbank in 2017 

 
 

 Children starting reception at Westroyd or Springbank in 2015 will remain at the 
respective schools, through to year 6. 

 
 

 Children in years 3, 4, 5 and 6 at Springbank in 2013 will remain at the school and will 
not be affected by the transition 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 40



 

Proposals to 
increase primary school places 

in Farsley and Calverley 
from September 2015

 

Public consultation Monday 16 September to
Friday 25 October 2013

Page 41



Page 2 Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 Page 2 Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 

Key phrases and terms in this booklet

Admissions limit
The maximum number of children a school plans to accept into each 
year group.

Executive Board
The decision making body formed by the Leader of the Council and 
nine other executive Members. Representatives of all political parties 
attend the Executive Board.

Infant Class Size 
Regulations

The Infant Class Size Regulations mean that a class with one 
qualified teacher can contain no more than 30 pupils. Infant classes 
are reception, year 1 and year 2, when pupils are aged between 4 
and 7.

Key Stage 1
The legal term for the two years of schooling normally known as year 
1 and year 2, when pupils are aged between 5 and 7.

Key Stage 2
The legal term for the four years of schooling normally known as 
years 3, 4, 5 and 6, when pupils are aged between 7 and 11.

Net Capacity

This is the space in the school expressed in terms of the number 
of pupils this space is suitable for. It is calculated by combining the 
space in a school that is available for classrooms as well as essential 
non-teaching activities, such as hall, storage and staff rooms. 

Planning Area
Areas within the city defined and used by Children’s Services to 
monitor demographics and support the planning of primary school 
places.

Reception class
This is the first year group for children starting primary school in the year 
they will reach 5 years old.

Statutory notice 
period or statutory 
notice

A period of time required by law to inform the public that the local 
authority is proposing to do or change something. The statutory 
notice is published with the proposal details, and invites comments. 
It follows a period of consultation like this one, allowing the local 
authority to adapt the proposals based on the views raised in the 
initial consultation. 

Form of entry
Primary schools are organised around classes of 30 pupils. A one 
form of entry school has seven year groups of 30 pupils, a two form 
of entry school has seven year groups of 60 pupils each.

Page 42



Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 Page 3

What are we consulting on and why?
This consultation is asking for your views on proposals to increase the number of primary school 
places in Farsley and Calverley by:

•	 Changing Farsley Westroyd Infant School and Farsley Springbank Junior School into two primary 
schools, and;

•	 Expanding Calverley Church of England Primary School. 

These changes would come into effect from September 2015 onwards. The proposals for the Farsley 
schools are linked, and the Calverley proposal is independent.

Leeds City Council has a legal duty to ensure there are sufficient school places for every child in the 
city, taking into account where those children live and which school they wish to attend.  There has 
been an increase in the birth rate across Leeds for several years, as well as a rise in the number 
of houses being built in some areas.  This means that we need to add more capacity to meet the 
additional demand for reception places.

When developing proposals and deciding which schools to expand, we consider:

•	 local birth and housing data, to identify whereabouts in the city the extra places are needed;

•	 which schools have the physical capacity to be expanded;

•	 the availability of other council owned land and whether any of this land could contribute to the 
provision of places; and

•	 the impact that expanding one school might have on other schools in the area.

Once all of the above elements have been considered and options discussed with the schools in the 
areas concerned, recommendations are presented to the Council’s Executive Board. If these are 
approved then we are able to proceed to the consultation stage. 

The booklet contains the following sections:

Page 4 	 Details of the Farsley Proposals

Page 8 	 Details of the Calverley Proposals

Page 10 	General frequently asked questions

Page 11 	What are the next steps of this process and How do I comment on these proposals?

Page 43



Page 4 Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 

Details of the Farsley proposals
At Farsley Westroyd Infant School, we are proposing to:
•	 Change the upper age limit from 7 to 11, creating a primary school with 7 year groups; 
•	 Reduce the reception admissions limit from 60 places in reception to 30 places in reception from 

September 2015; 
•	 Increase the net capacity of the school from 180 pupils to 210, by providing additional teaching 

space.

At Farsley Springbank Junior School, we are proposing to:
•	 Change the lower age limit from 7 to 4, creating a primary school with 7 year groups;
•	 Introduce an reception admission limit of 60 from September 2015;
•	 Maintain an admission limit of 60 into year 3 for 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017, but stop admitting 
     children into year 3 from 2018 onwards;
 •	 Increase the net capacity of the school from 240 pupils to 420, by providing additional teaching space 

These linked proposed changes would create an extra 30 reception places for Farsley children from 
2015. It would take 7 years for both new primary schools to fill to their new reception admissions limit. 
The schools currently offer 60 places per year group, and in total these changes would mean then 
would offer 90 places per year group when the transition is complete. 

Why do we need the places?
Farsley has seen a continuous rise in the under 5’s for several years. This has resulted in an increase 
in the demand for school places. The graph below shows the number of children aged 0-5 living within 
Farsley and the year they are eligible to start school (irrespective of which school they may choose or 
attend). As the graph clearly illustrates, if no additional capacity is added within the area, then we will 
not be able to meet the demand for school places for children living within Farsley.

What other options were considered?
Expand other schools. The other nearby schools which serve parts of Farsley are Farsley 
Farfield and Valley View, and these both already have 60 children per year group. The main density of 
the population is located around Westroyd school and within the Springbank and Kirklees estates, and 
Westroyd and Springbank are closer to that centre of population.  

150

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

0
2012	 2013	   2014	  2015	  2016

Farsley area - children aged 0-5 
with the year they are due to start school

Total reception 
places available in 
Farsley schools

Page 44



Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 Page 5

Build a new school.  There is currently a lack of available land for a new school locally. 
These proposed changes build on the leadership and teaching in two existing popular and 
successful schools, giving good educational outcomes for children. Creating brand new schools 
from scratch can carry significantly more risk, and the cost of building a new school is significantly 
higher than that of expanding an existing school and therefore has budgetary implications for the 
Council. The proposal provides flexibility to manage numbers back down again if necessary without 
necessarily needing to close a school. 

Expand the schools as infant and junior schools. Expanding the infant and junior 
schools by one form of entry (30 pupils) would mean the schools admitting 90 pupils into reception 
at Westroyd and 90 into year 3 at Springbank, rather than the current admissions limits of 60 at 
each.  This would mean that Westroyd would need a total of nine classrooms and Springbank a 
total of twelve. Although the Springbank site could accommodate the additional classrooms, the 
Westroyd site is not large enough to accommodate three extra classrooms. 

Combine the schools as one primary school and use the sites more flexibly. 
Given the limit of space at the Westroyd site, consideration was given to whether a single school 
allowed flexibility to use the sites for different age ranges. For example, with 3 reception classes 
and 3 year 1 classes at Westroyd site and then 3 of years 2 to 6 at Springbank. This would mean 
moving children during key stage 1 which could be very disruptive to their education.

Frequently asked questions 

What would the proposals mean for the school buildings?
The proposals would mean that one extra classroom would be needed at Westroyd and six 
extra classrooms would be needed at Springbank, along with other non-teaching space. Initial 
assessment suggests that there is the potential to expand these schools, however, we have not 
begun the detailed design process at this stage as this costs money which would be lost if the 
proposal did not proceed. Detailed design work would progress in parallel with the educational 
proposal to inform that process whilst minimising the risk of abortive cost. Any buildings required 
for these changes would be subject to the normal planning permission process, which would 
include consulting local residents, Highways and other interested parties. Children’s Services would 
work closely with the school to make sure that the spaces provided are suitable for the children at 
the school.   

What would be done to address the increased traffic which would result?
Both schools are in predominantly residential areas, and the scope to increase the level of on-site 
parking for additional staff and visitors is relatively limited. There is not thought to be sufficient 
space on site to provide vehicular parental drop off facilities. We have already started discussions 
with our colleagues in the Highways department who are currently looking at potential solutions 
to the access and traffic issues. All options to improve access and parking options are being 
considered and we routinely adopt off-site highway measures to improve access and safety. Any 
changes to access and the highway would be subject to full and detailed consultation with all 
stakeholders.

Are you considering expanding the early years provision currently 
provided in Farsley?
As part of the planning for school places, we also consider the impact on early years provision. 
In addition to the school nurseries located at Westroyd and Farfield, we have to factor in the 
number of places available within private settings. We have considered all this within Farsley and 
surrounding areas and there is enough provision for under 5s at this current time. As part of the 
early years sufficiency audit this is reviewed on an annual basis.

What is a linked proposal?
Linked proposals are ones which must be considered together because they affect one another.

Page 45



Page 6 Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 

What are the potential benefits of attending a primary school rather than 
an infant or junior school, and how would current and prospective pupils 
be affected?
There can be many benefits to a child attending a through primary school.  Although the infant and 
junior schools currently work very closely together and deliver excellent outcomes for children, the 
potential risks associated with the transition from an infant to a junior school would be removed, for 
example there would be consistency of care for pupils, and transition for children between key stages 
1 and 2 would be more easily organised in terms of understanding each child’s learning needs.   Also, 
systems which support your child’s learning, such as assessment, can be focussed on supporting 
them on their whole journey through primary school rather than just through Key Stage 1 or Key Stage 
2. In a through primary school, staff can share expertise and move between key stages to ensure that 
there is effective continuity and progression for children’s learning.  Staff also get to know families and 
their children when they start nursery or reception and can maintain that relationship until they move 
to high school.   There are also many social benefits which stem from older and younger children 
learning and working together, and there would also be improved opportunities for staff career 
progression and development.

How would the proposal affect the priority I get for a school place?
The Leeds City Council Admissions policy provides priority for those children who have a school as 
their nearest. These proposals would change what the nearest school is for some people in Farsley. 
The main effect is that some people would gain priority for Springbank instead of Westroyd or Valley 
View. This does not mean that you would automatically gain entry to those schools, or that you would 
not be able to get a place at another school. You could still express a preference for any school 
you wish, and places would be allocated in accordance with the policy. A map showing the nearest 
schools for the housing in the area is available on the web site or on request.

Has the impact of new housing been considered?
Housing is another major consideration when planning school places, and we work closely with 
colleagues in the Planning department to plan for the additional school places that may be required. 
As part of this process, developers are asked to make a financial contribution or provide land for 
education provision when they build new family houses. Discussions are ongoing with regard to the 
proposed development at Kirklees Knowl.

Would the infant and junior schools change their names?
The infant and junior element would be removed. However, it would be up to each school’s governing 
body to decide what the schools would be called.

What is the purpose of a drop in session? 
They are another opportunity to find out more about the proposal. These proposals have a detailed 
transition plan associated with them, and may affect individual families differently. The drop in session 
provides an opportunity to ask questions in relation to the proposal in a less formal setting than the 
public meeting where these specific concerns can be addressed more easily.  We will not take formal 
notes of the drop in sessions for this reason.  

Would staff from one school move to another school i.e. staff from the 
infant school to the junior school and vice versa?  
It is for the head teachers and governors of the two schools to determine their workforce 
requirements. Both schools would be undergoing change as they change their age ranges, and both 
would see an overall increase in the number of staff.   

Page 46



Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 Page 7

Information about the transition from infant/junior 
to primary school
My child will already be in school by September 2015, how does this affect me?
All children who have entered Westroyd as an infant school would have the option to either continue 
into year 3 at Westroyd remaining there until transition to high school, or to transfer to Springbank as 
they had envisaged on joining the infant school. This option would apply to children who are currently 
in year 1 or reception plus the reception children who would start in September 2014. Children who 
have already started at Springbank would not be affected, and would transition to high school at the 
end of year 6 as expected.

My child will be starting reception in September 2015 or later, what are 
my options?
When applying for a place you would be able to preference either school for your child. You would 
be applying to join primary schools, and so whichever school your child started at they would stay in 
until year 6. There would be 30 places available in reception at Westroyd and 60 places available at 
Springbank, and these would be allocated in accordance with the Leeds City Council admissions policy.

When would children stop being able to enter the junior school at year 3?
The final year that children would be able to transfer from the infant to junior at year 3 would be 2017. 
Therefore, any children who enter reception at either school from September 2015 onwards would stay 
at that school for their entire primary education i.e. until year 6.  

The charts below show how the transition from linked infant and junior schools to stand alone primary 
schools would work from September 2015. The grey boxes indicate the year groups that would not have 
any children admitted in those years.

Westroyd Infant School, transition to primary school table       

Start Date Reception Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6

Sept 2013

Sept 2014

Sept 2015*

Sept 2016

Sept 2017**

Sept 2018

Springbank Junior School, transition to primary school table       

Start Date Reception Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6

Sept 2013

Sept 2014

Sept 2015*

Sept 2016

Sept 2017**

Sept 2018

* 2015 - Primary schools established, admitting 30 children into reception at Westroyd and 60 children into reception at 	
Springbank.

** 2017 - The last year that children moving into year 3 at the Infant school, would have the option to transfer to the junior school.

Page 47



Page 8 Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 

Details of the Calverley proposal
In Calverley we are proposing to permanently expand Calverley Church of England Primary School 
from September 2015 by
•	 Increasing the net capacity from 315 pupils to 420 pupils

•	 Increase in the admission number from 45 to 60.  

This increase would only apply to reception classes from September 2015; it would therefore take seven 
years for the school to reach its full capacity.
Data suggests that 15 more places will be needed in Calverley by 2015 as demonstrated in the table 
below.  It shows the number of children aged 0-5 living within Calverley the year they will enter reception.

What other options were considered?
Expand other schools.  We also looked at the possibility of expanding Calverley Parkside 
Primary School, however the site which the school sits on is not large enough to accommodate any 
extra buildings or play space.  

Build a new school. There is a lack of available land locally. This proposed change builds on 
the leadership and teaching in an existing popular and successful school, giving good educational 
outcomes for children. Creating brand new schools can carry significantly more risk, and the cost of 
building a new school is significantly higher than that of expanding an existing school and therefore 
has budgetary implications for the Council. The expansion of existing schools provides stability whilst 
allowing flexibility to manage numbers back down again if necessary without necessarily needing to 
close a school. 

Has the impact of new housing been considered?
Housing is another major consideration when planning school places, and we work closely with 
colleagues in the Planning department to plan for the additional school places that may be required. 
As part of this process, developers are asked to make a financial contribution or provide land for 
education provision when they build new family houses.

It is anticipated that 550 new homes will be built at the former Riverside Mills and Clariant works near 
Calverley. We would expect this to generate around 19 primary aged children per year group. Some of 
these homes would have Calverley CE Primary School as their nearest school, and so children would 

120

100

80

60

40

20

0
2012	 2013	   2014	  2015	  2016

Calverley area - children aged 0-5 
with the year they are due to start school

Total reception 
places available in 
Calverley schools

Page 48



Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 Page 9

gain priority for places there, although they may prefer to go elsewhere. Some would have Horsforth 
schools as their nearest schools. A map showing Calverley schools’ in relation to the housing site is 
available on the web site or on request.

What would be done to address the increased traffic and access issues 
at the school?
It is recognised that Calverley CE currently has issues with traffic access. The access to the school is 
narrow and on a tight bend and there is an unadopted road to the side of the school. We have already 
started discussions with our colleagues in the Highways department who are currently looking at 
potential solutions to the access and traffic issues. Any changes to access and the highway would be 
subject to full and detailed consultation with all stakeholders.
What would the proposals mean for the school buildings?
A 2 Form Entry school would need 14 classrooms in total, along with other additional non-teaching 
space.  Initial assessment suggests that there is the potential to provide this capacity, however, we 
have not begun the detailed design process at this stage as this costs money which would be lost if the 
proposal did not proceed. Detailed design work would progress in parallel with the educational proposal 
to inform that process whilst minimising the risk of abortive costs. Any buildings required for these 
changes would be subject to the normal planning permission process, which would include consulting 
local residents, Highways and other interested parties. Children’s Services would work closely with the 
school to make sure that the spaces provided are suitable for the children at the school.

The school is becoming a Voluntary Aided school, would this affect 
the proposal?
The school has consulted on changing its status to Voluntary Aided and the final decision has 
been made to proceed with this, from 31 August 2013.  As an aided school, the school is its own 
admissions authority, and should they wish to do so, can make changes to their admissions policy.  
The school would need to consult with parents and other stakeholders to do so.

The Council previously consulted on this proposal and it didn’t go ahead, 
why are you consulting again?
The proposal consulted on in 2010 was stopped because of concerns that the expansion didn’t meet a 
sustained need for school places for children from Calverley, and because of the concerns about the 
traffic and access issues. The continuing rise in the birth rate now means that permanent expansion is 
necessary to ensure that there are sufficient places for local children and, if we can address the traffic 
and access concerns, this proposal is the only currently deliverable option to meet that need. 

Page 49



Page 10 Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 

General frequently asked questions

What information was used to identify that extra places are needed?
We use NHS data, which is supplied annually from hospital and GP data and allows us to map the 
location of all the 0-5s across the city. We also use current and past admissions data, which allows us 
to analyse parental preference patterns for children living within an area and its surrounding areas. 

Because there is a lot of new housing being built in Leeds, we also monitor planning applications and 
developments already under construction so that we can plan for the new children moving in. We use 
a formula of 25 primary aged children being generated from 100 family dwellings, which equates to 
3.6 children per year group. 

Does this mean class sizes would be bigger?
Primary schools are organised around classes of 30 children per teacher, and these proposals would 
not change that. Current Infant Class Size Regulations state that infant classes (reception, year 
1 and year 2) must have no more than 30 pupils in a class with one qualified teacher. Therefore, 
extra accommodation would have to be provided and more staff would be recruited to manage the 
additional pupils.

Would the building work cause disruption to the school and pupils?
It is not always possible to do all building work during school holidays, although we would try to make 
sure any works that are likely to be very noisy or disruptive are carried out whilst pupils and staff are 
away.  Any building work carried out while the school is open would be completely segregated from 
the pupils and staff to ensure safety, and disruption to teaching and learning would be minimised.  
The contractors we would be using are very experienced in working around existing and operational 
schools.

Will there be any additional wrap around care?  
The Local Authority does not have a duty to provide wrap around care, but is required to ensure that 
sufficient care is available, and if this is not the case to stimulate the market. Wrap around is provided 
by a number of local providers. If additional wrap around care is required, this would be addressed as 
part of the annual childcare sufficiency audit.

How do I put my views forward? 
You may choose to attend one of the public meetings where we do take notes of the comments and 
questions that are raised.  The notes of these meetings are intended to capture the key points raised 
but are not a verbatim record. If you want to make sure your point is put across then we recommend 
that you respond to the consultation in writing, either by email, online or on the paper form provided in 
the consultation booklet. 

Page 50



Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 Page 11

What are the key dates of this process?

Date Key event

16 September 2013 Six week statutory consultation begins, with an opportunity to submit views/
responses and attend meetings

25 October 2013 Six week statutory consultation period ends

December 2013 The earliest the Executive Board will make a decision on whether the 
proposals can proceed to statutory notice period

Early 2014 Statutory notices published (if approval is given) followed by a four or six 
week representation period

Spring 2014 This is the earliest the Executive Board can make their final decision

How do I comment on the proposal?
The consultation runs from Monday 16 September 2013 to Friday 25 October 2013. If you want us to 
consider your views, we must receive your comments no later than 4pm on Friday 25 October 2013.

There are drop-in sessions and/or consultation meetings planned which will give you the 
opportunity to ask questions.  Details of the meetings are given below:

School name Meeting type Date Time
Farsley Westroyd Infant 
and Nursery School

Consultation meeting 26 September 2013 6.00pm – 7.30pm

Farsley Westroyd Infant 
and Nursery School

Drop-in session 1 October 2013 8.30am – 9.45am

Farsley Springbank 
Junior School

Consultation meeting 2 October 2013 6.00pm – 7.30pm

Farsley Springbank 
Junior School

Drop-in session 8 October 2013 2.30pm – 4.00pm

Calverley C of E 
Primary School

Consultation meeting 3 October 2013 6.00pm – 7.30pm

This booklet and the additional maps are also available to download from our website at: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Consultations-and-reviews.aspx 
or by calling 0113 247 5793. 

You can respond to this proposal in writing, or verbally at the consultation meetings. 

To respond in writing you can:
	 •	 use the form in this booklet;
	 •	 write a letter to the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team, 10th Floor West, Merrion House, 
		  110 Merrion Centre, Leeds LS2 8DT; or
	 •	 email: educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk.
Responses can be anonymous, but if you would like an acknowledgement please include your name 
and address.

Responses will be summarised and presented to the Executive Board, who will take all your views into 
consideration. Your opinion is therefore important to us so please take the opportunity to respond to 
the proposal.

Page 51



Page 12 Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 

BLANK PAGE

Page 52



Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 Page 13

Public consultation response form
Please read the consultation booklet on the proposals and tell us your views. The questions on this form 
are there to help you, but you do not have to respond to them all.

Responses can also be sent by email to educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk or by letter to: 
Capacity Planning and Sufficiency, 10th floor west, Merrion House, 110 Merrion Centre, 
Leeds LS2 8DT.  Please return completed forms to this address. 

Responses must be received by 4pm on Friday 25 October 2013.  
This booklet, along with information on the progress of the proposal, are available at: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Consultations-and-reviews.aspx

Questions
Please answer the questions below which apply to you:

1. Do you agree with proposals to change Farsley Westroyd Infant School and Farsley 
Springbank Junior School into two primary schools?

Please tell us more about your views and your reasons for them. 

Please use a separate sheet if needed

2. Do you agree with the proposed expansion of Calverley C of E Primary School 
from September 2015?

Yes No

Yes No

Page 53



Page 14 Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 

3. How did you find out about this consultation?                                                                                   

    

4. Have you found the consultation process and information provided useful?                 

    How could we improve the consultation process and/or information provided?

All responses will be taken into account when the decision on whether to proceed is made, 
but we unfortunately cannot address specific queries.  However, if you would like your 
response to be acknowledged, please provide your contact details:

Name:

Address:

Parent/carer

Governor

Member of staff

Pupil

Elected member

Local resident

Other

Your child’s/children’s school/s:

Your school:

Your school:

Your school:

Ward:

Area:

Please tell us:

Data Protection Act 1998
Under the terms of the Data Protection Act 1998 we must inform you of the following.  Leeds City Council are seeking 
your views to help inform the decision on this proposal. Your personal information will be used only for this purpose, and 
may be shared with other agencies who are involved in the consultation, however only to address any issues you raise. If 
you do not wish to provide personal details your views will still be considered, but we will not be able to acknowledge your 
response personally. 

Please send your reply to:

Yes No

Capacity Planning and Sufficiency, 10th floor west, 
Merrion House, 110 Merrion Centre, Leeds LS2 8DT

About you: (please tick and complete all those that apply to you)

Page 54



Proposals to increase primary school places in Farsley and Calverley from September 2015 Page 15

3. How did you find out about this consultation?                                                                                   

    

4. Have you found the consultation process and information provided useful?                 

    How could we improve the consultation process and/or information provided?

All responses will be taken into account when the decision on whether to proceed is made, 
but we unfortunately cannot address specific queries.  However, if you would like your 
response to be acknowledged, please provide your contact details:

Name:

Address:

Parent/carer

Governor

Member of staff

Pupil

Elected member

Local resident

Other

Your child’s/children’s school/s:

Your school:

Your school:

Your school:

Ward:

Area:

Please tell us:

Data Protection Act 1998
Under the terms of the Data Protection Act 1998 we must inform you of the following.  Leeds City Council are seeking 
your views to help inform the decision on this proposal. Your personal information will be used only for this purpose, and 
may be shared with other agencies who are involved in the consultation, however only to address any issues you raise. If 
you do not wish to provide personal details your views will still be considered, but we will not be able to acknowledge your 
response personally. 

Please send your reply to:

If you do not speak English and need help in understanding this document, please telephone the number 
below and state the name of your language. We will then put you on hold while we contact an interpreter.

Arabic:

Bengali:

Cantonese:

Farsi:

Hindi:

Punjabi:

Kurdish:

Czech:
Jestliže nemluvíte anglicky a potřebujete, aby vám 
někdo pomohl vysvětlit tento dokument, prosím 
zavolejte na níže uvedené číslo a uveďte svůj jazyk. 
Potom vás požádáme, abyste nepokládal(-a) telefon 
a mezitím zkontaktujeme tlumočníka.

French:
Si vous ne parlez pas anglais et que vous avez 
besoin d’aide pour comprendre ce document, veuillez 
téléphoner au numéro ci-dessous et indiquez  votre 
langue. Nous vous demanderons d’attendre pendant 
que nous contactons un(e) interprètre.

Polish:
Jeżeli nie mówią Państwo po angielsku i potrzebują 
pomocy w zrozumieniu tego dokumentu, prosimy 
zadzwonić pod poniższy numer telefonu. Po 
podaniu nazwy swojego ojczystego języka prosimy 
poczekać – w tym czasie będziemy kontaktować się 
z tłumaczem.

Slovak:
Ak nehovoríte anglicky a potrebujete, aby vám niekto 
pomohol vysvetliť tento dokument, prosím zavolajte 
na nižšie uvedené číslo a uveďte svoj jazyk. Potom 
vás požiadame, aby ste nepokladali telefón a 
medzitým skontaktujeme tlmočníka.

Somali:
Haddii aadan af Ingiriiska ku hadlin una baahan 
tahay in fahamka dukumentigan lagugu caawino, 
fadlan soo wac lambarka teleefoonka hoose oo 
magaca sheeg luqaddaadag.  Ka dib baan kugu oran 
doonaa sug inta aan turjumaan la xiriireyno.

Tigrinya:

Urdu:

Phone: 0113 247 5793

Page 55



 

Have your say
We would like to invite you to our consultation 
events to discuss proposals to increase primary 
school places in Farsley and Calverley

£	 Find out more about the proposal
£	 Take the opportunity to have your say
£	 Ask questions

School name Meeting type Date Time

Farsley Westroyd 
Infant and Nursery 

School

Consultation 
meeting

26 September 
2013

6.00pm – 7.30pm

Farsley Westroyd 
Infant and Nursery 

School
Drop-in session 1 October 2013 8.30am – 9.45am

Farsley Springbank 
Junior School

Consultation 
meeting

2 October 2013 6.00pm – 7.30pm

Farsley Springbank 
Junior School

Drop-in session 8 October 2013 2.30pm – 4.00pm

Calverley C of E 
Primary School

Consultation 
meeting

3 October 2013 6.00pm – 7.30pm

Page 56



 

 

Report of Director of Children’s Services  

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 5 March 2014  

Subject:  
Part A: Outcome of Statutory Notice on proposals for the expansion 
Calverley C of E Primary School 
Part B:  Outcome of consultation on a proposal for the expansion of Broadgate 
Primary School, Horsforth   

Part C: Outcome of Statutory Notice on proposals for the expansion of Broomfield 
South SILC and West Oaks SEN Specialist School and College 
 
Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 

Part A – Calverley & Farsley 
Part B – Horsforth 
Part C –  Middleton Park, Hyde Park and Woodhouse, Wetherby   

  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

Part A 

In December 2013 Executive Board considered the outcome of public consultation on a 
statutory proposal to create additional primary places at Calverley C of E Primary School 
for September 2015 and gave permission to publish a statutory notice. This proposal was 
brought forward as part of the Council’s basic need programme, to meet the statutory duty 
to ensure sufficient school places in response to the growing pre-school population.  

The notice was published on Thursday 2 January 2014 for 4 weeks.  A final decision must 
be made within 2 months of the expiry of the notice, therefore by 30 March 2014.  There 
were no responses to the notices, and therefore, Part A of this report seeks a final decision 
from Executive Board on the proposal. 

 Report author:  Sarah Sinclair 
Tel:  75924 

Page 57



 

 

Part B 

At its meeting in November 2013 the Executive Board gave permission to consult on a 
proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth, by expanding Broadgate Primary 
School from a capacity of 210 to 420, with an increase to its admission number from 30 to 
60, with effect from September 2015. Part B of this report presents the outcome of the 
statutory consultation on this proposal and seeks permission to publish a statutory notice 
in respect of Broadgate Primary School. 

Part C 

In December 2013 Executive Board considered the outcome of public consultation on two 
statutory proposals. The first was to expand Broomfield South SILC from a capacity of 200 
to 250 pupils with effect from September 2015 using a site adjacent to the school, Broom 
Court (Broom Place, Leeds, LS10 3JP). The second proposal was to expand West Oaks 
SEN Specialist School and College from a capacity of 200 to 350 pupils by the creation of 
an additional site for 150 children and young people aged 2 to 16 on the former Blenheim 
Centre (Crowther Place, Leeds, LS6 2ST). Permission was given to publish statutory 
notices for both of these proposals. 

The proposed expansions would make a significant contribution to plans to address an 
identified shortfall of places for children and young people with special educational needs 
for 2015 and in the years ahead. 

Both notices were published on Thursday 2 January 2014 for 4 weeks. A final decision 
must be made within two months of the expiry of the notice, therefore by 30 March 2014.  
There were no responses to the notices, and therefore, part 6 of this report seeks a final 
decision from Executive Board on the proposals. 

Recommendations 

Part A 

Executive Board is asked to approve the expansion of Calverley C of E Primary School 
from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the admission number from 
45 to 60 with effect from September 2015. 

Part B 

Executive Board is asked to approve the publication of a statutory notice to expand 
Broadgate Primary School, Horsforth, from a capacity of 210 pupils to 420 pupils with an 
increase in the admission number from 30 to 60 with effect from September 2015. 

Part C 

Executive Board is asked to: 

• Approve the expansion of Broomfield South SILC from a capacity of 200 to 250 
pupils with effect from September 2015 using a site adjacent to the school, Broom 
Court (Broom Place, Leeds, LS10 3JP) with effect from September 2015; 

Page 58



 

 

• Approve the expansion of West Oaks SEN Specialist School and College from a 
capacity of 200 to 350 pupils by the creation of an additional site for 150 children 
and young people aged 2 to 16 on the former Blenheim Centre (Crowther Place, 
Leeds, LS6 2ST) with effect from September 2015. 

Parts A-C 

Executive Board are asked to note that the Head of Service, Strategic Development 
and Investment is responsible for implementing these decisions by September 2015. 

1.   Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. The report is divided into 
three parts - Part A describes the outcome of a statutory notice in relation to the 
expansion of Calverley C of E Primary School from September 2015, and seeks a 
final decision on this proposal. Part B summarises the consultation regarding a 
proposal to expand Broadgate Primary School, Horsforth, and seeks permission 
to publish a statutory notice. Part C describes the outcome of statutory notices in 
relation to the expansion of special educational needs provision within Leeds for 
September 2015, and seeks a final decision on these proposals. 

2 Background information 

2.1 Part A: In December 2013 Executive Board considered the outcome of a public 
consultation on a statutory proposal to expand Calverley C of E Primary School 
from September 2015, and gave permission to publish a statutory notice.  

2.2 Part B: In November 2013 Executive Board gave permission to consult on a 
proposal to expand Broadgate Primary School from a capacity of 210 to 420 with 
an increase in admission number from 30 to 60, with effect from September 2015. 

2.3 Part C: In December 2013 Executive Board considered the outcome of public 
consultation on two statutory proposals to increase SEN provision in Leeds from 
September 2015. 

2.3.1 The Targeted Basic Need programme was launched by the Department of 
Education in March 2013 to provide additional funding for school places in areas 
where they are most needed.  Local authorities were invited to bid for funding for 
new schools, or to expand existing outstanding and good schools.  Leeds has 
been successful in bidding for additional funding for seven schemes. Two of these 
schemes are the proposed expansions to two Special Inclusive Learning Centres, 
Broomfield South SILC (50 places) utilising the Broom Court site and West Oaks 
SEN Specialist School and College (150 places), to be located on the former 
Blenheim Centre, Crowther Place, for children and young people with special 
educational needs living in the inner city areas of Leeds. 

2.3.2 The proposed expansions would make a significant contribution to plans to 
address an identified shortfall of places for children and young people with special 
educational needs both in 2015 and in years ahead.  Under the terms of the 

Page 59



 

 

funding, proposed expansion works must be completed and the buildings open 
and operational, by September 2015.    

2.4 The proposals detailed in parts A, B and C were brought forward as part of a 
range of measures to ensure the authority meets its statutory duty to ensure 
sufficiency of school places. Under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 these 
proposals constitute prescribed alterations requiring a statutory process.  

3 Main issues 

Part A - Outcome of Statutory Notice on a proposal for the expansion of Calverley  
C of E Primary School 

3.1 The statutory notice is the final step of the statutory process. The notice in relation 
to the expansion of Calverley C of E Primary School was published on Thursday 2 
January 2014. The notice expired on Thursday 30 January 2014. A final decision 
must be made within 2 months of the expiry of the notices, i.e. by 30 March 2014.  
There were no responses to the notice, and this report seeks a final decision on 
the proposal.  

3.2 The school governing body have raised several queries in respect of the detail of 
the physical design solution.  It is recognised that the access to the school via the 
local highway network at the adjacent privately owned driveway presents the 
school with a number of challenges.  Children’s Services remain committed to 
working with the school and colleagues in City Development, specifically 
Highways Design, to find a solution that is both deliverable and affordable.  The 
development of the on and off-site design will be presented to the governing body 
prior to design freeze to ensure all stakeholders are kept fully informed. 

Part B - Outcome of consultation on a proposal for the expansion of Broadgate 
Primary School, Horsforth   

3.3 The consultation was conducted from 25 November 2013 to 17 January 2014 in- 
line with government guidance and local practice. Ward members were consulted 
prior to and during the formal consultation period. A public meeting and drop-in 
sessions were held and information was distributed through the school, Early 
Years providers, and playgroups. Leaflets were delivered to local residents living 
in the area surrounding the school. A Facebook page was also set up for the 
public to make comments about the proposal. Information was also posted on 
Leeds City Council’s website. A summary of the issues raised follows and copies 
of the written responses, public meeting notes and additional analyses referred to 
can be found at www.leeds.gov.uk or requested from the Capacity Planning and 
Sufficiency Team at educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk    

3.3.1 Rising demographics and housing across Horsforth and surrounding areas has 
resulted in pressure for primary school places at all seven schools within the 
Horsforth planning area. During the consultation phase, 38 written responses 
were received, 6 in favour and 32 against. The governing body are in favour of the 
proposal, but have stated their concerns around access and parking issues along 
Broadgate Lane. The following issues were raised during the meetings and within 
the written responses:  

Page 60

mailto:educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk


 

 

3.3.2 Concern: Whether Broadgate is the right choice of school to expand as this is the 
least popular school in Horsforth and all the other schools are oversubscribed. 

Response: When planning places across Horsforth, we have looked at the whole 
area to determine where the increase in demographics is located in comparison to 
the schools. We have also carried out a site feasibility study to determine which 
schools could be physically enlarged and by how much. Broadgate Primary 
School is located in the most densely populated area of Horsforth with over 90 
children each year having this school as their nearest. Therefore expanding other 
schools would mean children would have to travel much further to school. 
Following a feasibility study of school sites, only Broadgate Primary, West End 
Primary and St Mary’s Catholic Primary, were feasible for expansion. However, 
only Broadgate Primary could expand by the additional 30 places that are 
required each year. Although the school has less first preferences than others in 
the area it is still popular, picking up large numbers of second and third 
preferences. 

3.3.3 Concern: An extra 30 places each year may not be enough once the housing 
development on the former Clariant Site, Calverley Lane is complete. 

Response: We have recently undergone a consultation to expand Calverley CE 
Primary School and are aware of the impact the Clariant housing site will have on 
schools in a number of areas. We are certainly looking at how we address this in 
the longer term and may need to bring forward further proposals at later date, but 
the demand for provision in Horsforth is based on children we already know about 
who are living in the area now. 

3.3.4 Concern: With the increase in demographics over the coming years, the authority 
should consider building a new school 

Response: As part of planning school places in any area, the option of building a 
new school is always considered. However, there are a number of reasons why 
this is not the best or most feasible option. These include: 

• A shortage of sites available on which to build the school, certainly in the 
areas where demographic pressure is increasing. 

• The local authority can no longer open a new school but must seek an 
academy sponsor as well as finding a suitable site. Sometimes building on the 
strengths and good practices at an existing school can be more beneficial to 
children’s education. 

3.3.5 Concern: Disruption to children and staff caused by building work could impact 
on education. 

Response: We would work closely with the school and the chosen contractor to 
ensure minimal disruption. Delivery times will be managed to avoid conflict at the 
beginning and end of the school day whilst children are being dropped off and 
picked up. Where possible, the most disruptive work will be planned during school 
holidays and where there is a requirement to build during term time we would 
ensure that the health and safety of children, staff and the public is a priority.  

Page 61



 

 

3.3.6 Concern: How will the traffic/parking issues be addressed on Broadgate Lane? 

Response: It is accepted that access and parking along Broadgate Lane, 
adjacent to the school site, is an important issue within this proposal, and 
consequently the resolution of existing issues is a priority for the design team.  
The technical solution to address these issues outside the school site will be 
developed in parallel with the design of the school building so each complements 
the other.  Children’s Services have been working closely with colleagues across 
Highways to ensure that all potential solutions are developed in partnership and 
are value for money, as well as specific to the circumstances of the site.  

A number of public meetings have taken place during the consultation period, 
including one that was centred on buildings and highways. At the meeting, initial 
plans were shown of the preferred building solution along with a draft highways 
plan showing several areas of improvements for Broadgate Lane and the 
surrounding area.  

A transport statement and school travel plan will be prepared to support the 
Broadgate Primary School Planning application, which will include investigating 
the existing conditions and the likely impact of the proposed primary school 
extension. An initial investigation has identified the following highways 
improvements/issues. However, the investigation is at an early stage and the 
proposed improvements may be subject to change. The following 
improvements/issues are not exhaustive and the Transport Statement may 
identify further issues which may also need to be addressed. 

• Proposed raised tables at the existing zebra crossings on Broadgate Lane and 
North Broadgate Lane;  

• Look at formalising the hatched areas / build outs;  
• A parking survey which will review waiting restrictions in the surrounding area;  
• Review the traffic calming measures within the 20mph zone and on full length 

of Broadgate Lane;  
• Review potential additional crossing points (i.e. dropped kerbs) on Broadgate 

Lane and North Broadgate Lane to support walking to school;  

3.3.7 Concern: Staff parking is an issue. Will there be more spaces? 

Response: Additional staff parking forms part of the building design currently 
being worked on and extra staff car parking will be a condition to gain planning 
approval.  

3.3.8 Concern: Will the expanded school admit only LS18 children 

Response: No, the current admissions policy does not exclude children on post 
code. Although there are some LS16 children who have this school as their 
nearest, the vast majority of those who have it as their nearest school are in LS18. 
The admissions policy will continue to prioritise based on straight line distance to 
the school. By creating local places we seek to support good attendance,a dn 
hence good outcomes. 

Page 62



 

 

Part C - Outcome of Statutory Notice on proposals for the expansion of Broomfield 
South SILC and West Oaks SEN Specialist School and College 

3.4 The notices in relation to expanding the provision of pupil places at Broomfield 
South SILC (50 places) utilising the Broom Court site and West Oaks SEN 
Specialist School and College (150 places), to be located on the former Blenheim 
Centre, Crowther Place were both published on Thursday 2 January 2014.  Both 
notices expired on Wednesday 29 January 2014. A final decision must be made 
within two months of the expiry of the notice, therefore by 29 March 2014.  There 
were no responses to the notices, and therefore, Part 6 of this report seeks a final 
decision from Executive Board on the proposals. 

3.5 The public consultation period ran from 16 September to 25 October 2013 for both 
proposals.  The report to the December 2013 meeting of Executive Board 
considered the responses received and how the concerns raised may be 
addressed. There was confidence that the issues raised could be addressed 
appropriately and therefore approval to publish statutory notices for both 
proposals were given.      

3.6 There have been no further representations received in response to the statutory 
notices. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The consultations in relation to Part B and the Statutory Notices detailed in parts 
A and C have been managed in accordance with all relevant legislation and local 
practice. The Broadgate proposal was advertised widely, as detailed in section 
3.3. The statutory notices described in Part A and C of the report were published 
in the newspaper, notices placed on the school gates as well as being advertised 
in the community. Information was also placed on the Leeds City Council website. 
Ward members in all wards city wide were formally consulted at the public 
consultation stage, both individually, and through area committees where 
appropriate to ensure awareness of all proposals city wide and improved 
understanding of the impact of proposals in neighbouring areas. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Screening forms for the Calverley proposal (part A of this report) have previously 
been completed and published as part of a report to the Executive Board in July 
2013; therefore, they are not attached to this report. 

4.2.2 Screening forms for the Broadgate proposal (part B of this report) has previously 
been completed and published as part of a report to the Executive Board in 
November 2013; therefore, they are not attached to this report. 

4.2.3 The screening forms in relation to the expansions of Broomfield South SILC and 
West Oaks SEN Specialist School and College (Part C of this report) have 
previously been completed and published as part of a report to the Executive 
Board in September 2013, therefore they are not attached to this report. 

Page 63



 

 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds. Providing 
places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and 
desirable school places, and thus reduces the risk of non-attendance. 

4.3.2 A key objective within the Best Council Plan 2013-2017 is to build a child friendly 
city. The delivery of pupil places through Basic Need is one of the most key 
entitlements of a Child Friendly City. A good quality school place contributes to 
the achievement of targets within the Children and Young People’s Plan, and 
contributes to our goals improve behaviour, attendance and achievement, 
contributing to the “Narrowing the Gap” and “Going up a League” agenda 
fundamental to the Leeds Education Challenge.A further objective of the Best 
Council Plan 2013-2017 is to ensure high quality public services. We have a duty 
to promote choice and diversity for parents and families and deliver additional 
school places in the areas where families need them. Meeting this expectation 
while demonstrating the five values underpinning all we do is key to the Basic 
Need Programme. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

Part A 

4.4.1 Calverley C of E Primary School – The high level estimated cost of delivery of the 
proposals is £2.1m, which will be funded through the education capital 
programme. Planning applications and requests for the Authority to spend will 
follow for this project at the appropriate time. 

Part B 

4.4.2 Broadgate Primary School - The total estimated cost of this project is 
approximately £3.7m, this includes a substantial contingency to allow for off-site 
highway works in response to concerns raised by local residents and elected 
councillors. This project has progressed through early design stages and detailed 
design will commence if Executive Board approve the publication of the statutory 
notice.  Planning applications and requests for the Authority to spend will follow 
for this project at the appropriate time. 

Part C  

4.4.3 The proposed expansions will receive funding of £5.6m through the successful 
Targeted Basic Need Bid. Planning applications and requests for the Authority to 
spend will follow for each project at the appropriate time. As the estimated project 
costs exceed the value of the grant allocation by approximately £5.8m, the scope 
of each project has been developed with the end-user to ensure the successful 
delivery of educational outcomes whilst minimising the impact on existing capital 
resources. The Basic Need Grant will be the source of the capital to fund the 
shortfall. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

Page 64



 

 

4.5.1 Unfortunately, due to officer oversight, this decision has not been published on the 
list of forthcoming key decisions for the required 28 days. Once this error came to 
light, a notification was published. 

4.5.2 The changes described constitute prescribed changes under the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006. The consultations have been managed in accordance with 
that legislation and with local practice.   

4.5.3 This report is subject to call in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 All project risks are managed via a detailed risk register by experienced project 
management resource within Children’s Services and the Public Private 
Partnership Unit of Leeds City Council.  

4.6.2 Part A: There is a statutory time limit for a final decision on the proposal to 
expand Calverley C of E Primary School of 30 March 2014. The proposal has 
been brought forward in time to allow places to be delivered for 2015. A decision 
not to proceed at this stage would mean fresh consultation on new proposals, and 
would mean places could not be delivered in time.  The authority’s ability to meet 
its statutory duty for sufficiency of school places in the short term may also be at 
risk.  

4.6.3 Part B:  As above, the proposal to expand Broadgate Primary School has been 
brought forward in time to allow places to be delivered for 2015. A decision not to 
proceed at this stage would mean fresh consultation on new proposals, and would 
mean places could not be delivered in time.  The authority’s ability to meet its 
statutory duty for sufficiency of school places in the short term may also be at risk. 

4.6.4 Part C: For both the Broomfield South SILC and the West Oaks Specialist SEN 
School and College proposals it has been necessary to progress feasibility design 
work at risk during the public consultation stage; however the decision to proceed 
to detailed design stages will be dependent on approval to progress to the latter 
stages of the statutory process. Therefore any delay to the statutory process will 
increase the risk of delayed delivery of the building solution or financial risk of 
abortive design fees being incurred. A proportion of the total expected cost of the 
projects to expand the South and North East SILC is Targeted Basic Need Grant 
funding allocated by the EFA for these specific proposals. Any delay to the 
statutory or design process for these two proposals would increase the risk of this 
grant funding being reduced or withdrawn. The total amount of grant funding 
allocated to these projects is approximately £5.5m. Without this additional funding, 
the projects may not be viable when balanced against other pupil place pressure 
across the city. Therefore the authority’s ability to meet statutory duty for 
sufficiency of SEN school places in both the short and long term would be at risk. 

4.6.5 With regard to West Oaks Specialist SEN School and College there are some 
areas of land within the vicinity of the development that are not within Leeds City 
Council ownership, including an area of the car park to the former Blenheim 
Centre. It is therefore necessary for officers in Children’s Services, City 
Development and Asset Management to work closely together to ensure that the 

Page 65



 

 

project can be delivered within the constraints of the site that is presently within 
the ownership of the Council. Whilst discussions with adjacent land owners have 
commenced; as the site layout would be made more logical by the acquisition of 
additional land; they may not conclude in time to ensure that the terms of the 
grant funding can be met. It is also necessary to ensure that the development 
does not adversely impact on the public open space that is immediately adjacent 
to the site; and to achieve this, the building footprint is likely to be constrained to 
the area of the existing Blenheim Centre building. 

4.6.6 With regard to the Broomfield South SILC project; discussions are on-going with 
colleagues in respect of the footpath that runs between the existing school and 
the site for the proposed expansion. The diversion of this footpath would impact 
on the external play offer and consequently the preferred option is to remove it 
altogether.  This course of action is subject to a separate application and 
consultation process and may generate local objection that would be a risk to the 
successful delivery of the project as a whole. These specific risks will need to be 
resolved prior to the submission of Design and Cost reports requesting Authority 
to spend. A consultation meeting is scheduled to be held at the Broomfield South 
SILC on 5 February 2014. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city 
we will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough 
school places for the children is one of our top priorities. These proposals have 
been brought forward to meet that need, and following the appropriate 
consultation we now seek to move them to the next stage. They will ensure that 
children in Leeds will have the best possible start to their learning, and so deliver 
our vision of a child friendly city. 

Part A 

5.2 No representations were received as part of the statutory notice phase. However, 
the issues raised during the consultation period are being addressed, and on 
balance, the proposal for the expansion of Calverley C of E Primary School from 
September 2015 remains strong, and addresses sufficiency needs in the 
immediate area. The issues regarding the detailed design and access have been 
noted and commented upon in the report and are being addressed as part of the 
detailed stage through the planning process. The delivery of the project will be 
complex, and will be overseen by experienced project managers. In terms of 
project delivery the Council is working with the Council’s Joint Venture Company 
partner, NPS Leeds Limited.  The on-going need for places will continue to be 
carefully assessed across the city, and further proposals brought forward as 
necessary.  

Part B 

5.3 The issues raised in consultation have been considered, and on balance, the 
proposal for the expansion of Broadgate Primary School from September 2015 
remains strong, as long as traffic and highways issues can be managed. The 
proposal addresses sufficiency needs in the Horsforth primary planning area. The 

Page 66



 

 

issues raised during the consultation have been noted and commented upon in 
this report and would be addressed further should the proposals be progressed at 
detailed stage through the planning process. Publication of a statutory notice now 
could potentially allow a final decision in June 2014, impacting favourably on the 
delivery of the scheme. 

Part C  

5.4 The proposals remain strong proposals, which would meet an immediate and on-
going need for additional SEN provision in the city, and are widely supported by 
parents of children with SEN and the governors of all the SILCs in Leeds.   No 
representations were received as part of the statutory notice phase. The delivery 
of the projects will be complex and will be overseen by experienced project 
managers.   The on-going need for SEN places will continue to be carefully 
monitored and accessed across the city and further proposals brought forward as 
necessary.  A placement policy will be developed within the Complex Needs 
service to manage pupil admissions to the proposed expansions. 

6 Recommendations 

Part A 

Executive Board is asked to approve the expansion of Calverley C of E Primary School 
from a capacity of 315 to 420 pupils with an increase in the admission number from 45 to 
60 with effect from September 2015. 

Part B 

Executive Board is asked to approve the publication of a statutory notice to expand 
Broadgate Primary School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in 
the admission number from 30 to 60 with effect from September 2015. 

Part C 

Executive Board is asked to: 

• Approve the expansion of Broomfield South SILC from a capacity of 200 to 250 
pupils with effect from September 2015 using a site adjacent to the school, Broom 
Court (Broom Place, Leeds, LS10 3JP) with effect from September 2015; 

• Approve the expansion of West Oaks SEN Specialist School and College from a 
capacity of 200 to 350 pupils by the creation of an additional site for 150 children 
and young people aged 2 to 16 on the former Blenheim Centre (Crowther Place, 
Leeds, LS6 2ST) with effect from September 2015. 

Parts A-C 

Executive Board are asked to note that the Head of Service, Strategic Development 
and Investment is responsible for implementing these decisions by September 2015. 

 

Page 67



 

 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 There are no background papers to this report. 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 68



 
Proposal to increase 

primary school places in Horsforth 
at Broadgate Primary School 

from September 2015

 

Public consultation Monday 25 November 2013 to
Friday 17 January 2014

Page 69



Page 2 Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015Page 2 Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015

Key phrases and terms in this booklet

Admissions limit The maximum number of children a school plans to accept into each 
year group.

Executive Board The decision making body of Leeds City Council, formed by 
the Leader of the Council and nine other executive Members. 
Representatives of all political parties attend the Executive Board.

Form of entry Primary schools are organised around classes of 30 pupils. A one 
form of entry school has seven year groups of 30 pupils, a two form 
of entry school has seven year groups of 60 pupils each.

Infant Class Size 
Regulations

The Infant Class Size Regulations state that a class with one qualified 
teacher can contain no more than 30 pupils. Infant classes are 
reception, year 1 and year 2, when pupils are aged between 4 and 7.

Key Stage 1 The legal term for the two years of schooling normally known as year 
1 and year 2, when pupils are aged between 5 and 7.

Key Stage 2 The legal term for the four years of schooling normally known as 
years 3, 4, 5 and 6, when pupils are aged between 7 and 11.

Net Capacity This is the space in the school expressed in terms of the number 
of pupils this space is suitable for. It is calculated by combining the 
space in a school that is available for classrooms as well as essential 
non-teaching activities, such as hall, storage and staff rooms. 

Planning Area Areas within the city defined and used by Children’s Services to monitor 
demographics and support the planning of primary school places.

Reception class This is the first year group for children starting primary school in the year 
they will reach 5 years old.

Statutory notice 
period or statutory 
notice

A period of time required by law to inform the public that the local 
authority is proposing to do or change something. The statutory 
notice is published with the proposal details, and invites comments. 
It follows a period of consultation like this one, allowing the local 
authority to adapt the proposals based on the views raised in the 
initial consultation. 

Contents Page

Foreword 3

Details of the proposal 4

Other options considered 5

Frequently asked questions 6

Key dates 7

Response form 8

Page 70



Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015 Page 3

Foreword
Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city we will attract new 
families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough school places for the children is one of our 
top priorities. We are working very hard to plan for the impact of rising pupil numbers across the 
city which also stems from a rising birth rate, and means the numbers entering reception classes 
in primary school each year is now much larger than the size of the year groups leaving the city’s 
secondary schools.

We have an ongoing city-wide school expansion programme in place to meet the increased demand 
for primary-age places, and through this programme the council has already approved 1118 new 
reception places since 2009, including two new primary schools and creating two ‘through’ schools for 
4-18 year olds.

All schools share our ambition to make Leeds the best city in the UK to grow up in, so we are working 
with all the schools in Leeds to ensure there are enough good quality, local school places.

Although we’ve already created extra places in the Horsforth area we believe that this is an area 
where we still need more places, therefore we are consulting on the proposal to expand Broadgate 
Primary School. Before making this decision we have consulted with the head teachers, governors, 
planners and local Ward members in the Horsforth area, and we are now consulting on that preferred 
option. We will continue to work together throughout this process to ensure that children in Leeds will 
have the best possible start to their learning, and so deliver our vision of a child friendly city.

What are we consulting on and why?
This consultation is asking for your views on proposals to increase the number of primary school 
places in the Horsforth area by expanding Broadgate Primary school from its current capacity of 210 
pupils to 420 pupils by increasing the admission number from 30 to 60 with effect from September 
2015.

Leeds City Council has a legal duty to ensure there are sufficient school places for every child in 
the city, and to do this we take into account where those children live and which school they wish to 
attend.  There has been an increase in the birth rate across Leeds for several years, as well as a rise 
in the number of houses being built in some areas. Both these factors have affected Horsforth. This 
means that we need to add more capacity to meet the additional demand for reception places.

When developing proposals and deciding which schools to expand, we consider:

•	 local birth and housing data, to identify whereabouts in the city the extra places are needed;

•	 which schools have the physical capacity to be expanded;

•	 the availability of other council owned land and whether any of this land could contribute to the 		
	 provision of places; and

•	 the impact that expanding one school might have on other schools in the area.

In 2011 we created 30 extra places in the Horsforth area by converting Horsforth Featherbank Infant 
school and Horsforth Newlaithes Junior School into primary schools, but we still need more places 
in Horsforth. In addition to accommodating children already born we know the pressure will increase 
due to the volume of new housing in the area. We have considered all the elements above with the 
schools and other key stakeholders in the areas concerned to form a preferred option to meet the 
demand. This was presented to the Council’s Executive Board, who have given us permission to start 
this formal consultation on the expansion of Broadgate Primary School.  

Nigel Richardson, 
Director of Children’s Services

Cllr Judith Blake, 
Lead Member for Children’s Services

Page 71



Page 4 Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015

Details of the proposal
In Horsforth we are proposing to permanently expand Broadgate Primary School from September 
2015 by:

•	 Increasing the net capacity from 210 pupils to 420 pupils

•	 Increase in the admission number from 30 to 60.

This increase would only apply to reception classes from September 2015; it would therefore take 
seven years for the school to reach its full capacity.

Birth and 0-5 year old trends
Chart A shows the births year on year across the Horsforth area. This is plotted with the latest 0 to 5 
year olds data at September 2013, to show how the numbers in these year groups have changed over 
time. It shows how they tend to increase in size as the children get older. The total admission places 
for all schools in the area are shown against these two trend lines. Chart B shows the current 0-5 year 
olds against the school they currently live nearest to and the year they are due to start school.

Chart A

Chart B

Page 72



Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015 Page 5

The map above shows the primary schools in the Horsforth area. The black lines indicate the 
boundaries which determine the addresses nearest to each school. It also includes the Clariant and 
Riverside Mills housing development.

Why expand Broadgate – what other options were considered?
The school is central to Horsforth, with a very large number of children living nearby. The site is large 
and although a project would be complex we do believe the expansion can be delivered there. There 
would need to be some traffic and highways measures as part of any building scheme and these 
would be subject to additional independent consultation. The governing body of the school are willing 
to work with us and explore this option through consultation.

Expand other schools. Many of the other schools in Horsforth are on very constrained sites 
and would be difficult to expand. However, options were identified at West End Primary and St Mary’s 
Catholic Primary, but the traffic issues at West End are potentially slightly more difficult to mitigate 
than at Broadgate, and although there is potential to increase places at St Mary’s by 15, we feel that 
this would not be enough to manage the expected demand for places from 2015 onwards.   

New schools. There is only one site that has been identified in the area as potentially able to 
accommodate a new school. This is the former adult training centre on Church Lane. As this site is 
adjacent to the high school site, it seems sensible to prioritise this for potential use by the Horsforth 
Academy for secondary expansion at a later date. 

Expansions offer the chance to build on the leadership and teaching in existing successful schools, 
giving good educational outcomes for children. Creating a brand new school can carry significantly 
more risk, and the cost of building a new school is significantly higher than that of expanding an 
existing school. Expansion of existing schools provides stability whilst allowing flexibility to manage 
numbers back down again if necessary in the future.

Page 73



Page 6 Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015

Frequently asked questions

Where does the birth and 0-5’s data come from?
This data comes from the NHS and is supplied annually from hospital and GP records. This 
information allows us to map the location of all children aged between 0 and 5 years, living in Leeds. 
We are then able to monitor this data against previous years and highlight areas of the city where birth 
rates are increasing. 

Do you consider the impact of new housing developments?
We work closely with colleagues in the Planning department to plan for the additional school places 
that may be required from any new housing developments. As part of this process, developers are 
asked to make a financial contribution or provide land for education provision when they build new 
family houses. 

What would the proposals mean for the school buildings and associated 
issues such as traffic and access at the school? 
Before bringing forward proposals we need to be satisfied that there is scope for a building solution, 
and to address associated issues like parking, traffic and access. Initial work suggests that this is 
possible in this case. All such works would be subject to their own consultation process, which will 
ensure the detail is scrutinised. Since these plans cost money to develop in detail, we have to manage 
the processes carefully in parallel to allow the school proposal to be informed whilst minimising any 
risk of wasting money on proposals that do not proceed. The school’s governing body would be 
fully involved in discussions about what the building solution looked like, and they would address 
infrastructure needs as well as basic class room needs. 

Does this mean class sizes would be bigger?
Primary schools are organised around classes of 30 children per teacher, and these proposals would 
not change that. Current Infant Class Size Regulations state that infant classes (reception, year 
1 and year 2) must have no more than 30 pupils in a class with one qualified teacher. Therefore, 
extra accommodation would have to be provided and more staff would be recruited to manage the 
additional pupils.

Would the building work cause disruption to the school and pupils?
It is not always possible to do all building work during school holidays, although we would try to make 
sure any works that are likely to be very noisy or disruptive are carried out whilst pupils and staff are 
away.  Any building work carried out while the school is open would be completely segregated from 
the pupils and staff to ensure safety, and disruption to teaching and learning would be minimised.  
The contractors we would be using are very experienced in working around existing and operational 
schools.

Would there be any additional wrap around care?
The Local Authority does not have a duty to provide wrap around care, but is required to ensure 
that sufficient care is available, and if this is not the case to stimulate the market. Wrap around care 
is provided by a number of local providers. If additional wrap around care is required, this would be 
addressed as part of the annual childcare sufficiency audit.

How do I put my views forward?
You may choose to attend one of the public meetings where we do take notes of the comments and 
questions that are raised.  The notes of these meetings are intended to capture the key points raised 
but are not a verbatim record. If you want to make sure your point is put across then we recommend 
that you respond to the consultation in writing, either by email, online or on the paper form provided in 
this consultation booklet.

Page 74



Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015 Page 7

What are the next steps of this process?
If the proposal proceeds the next step would be a statutory notice, before a final decision. All the 
views raised in consultation will be considered and presented to the Executive Board. They will have 
the option to proceed to the next step of the process with the proposal, or with minor amendments 
to it. They may also choose to pause or withdraw the proposal. There may also be additional work 
identified that is needed to help inform that decision. The following table describes a potential 
timetable for the next steps:

Date Key event

25 November 2013
Six weeks (taking in to account the Christmas holiday period) statutory 
consultation begins, with an opportunity to submit views/responses and attend 
meetings

17 January 2014 Six week statutory consultation period ends

March 2014 The earliest the Executive Board can make a decision on whether the 
proposals can proceed to statutory notice period

April 2014 The earliest that statutory notices can be published (if approval is given) 
followed by a four weeks representation period

June 2014 This is the earliest the Executive Board can make their final decision

How do I comment on the proposal?
The consultation runs from Monday 25 November 2013 to Friday 17 January 2014. If you want us to 
consider your views, we must receive your comments no later than 4pm on Friday 17 January 2014.

There are a range of meetings planned which will give you the opportunity to ask questions 
about the proposal:

School name Meeting type Date Time

Broadgate Primary School Consultation 
meeting

Wednesday 11 
December 2013 6.30pm – 8.00pm

Broadgate Primary School Drop-in session Thursday 9 January 2014 2.30pm – 3.30pm

Broadgate Primary School Viewing of Initial 
Plans Monday 13 January 2014 6:30pm – 8:00pm

This booklet is also available to download from our website at: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Consultations-and-reviews.aspx 
or by calling 0113 247 5793. 

You can respond to this proposal in the following ways: 

•	 Response form - use the form in this booklet
•	 Letter - write to us at Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team, 10 Floor West, Merrion House,  
	 110 Merrion Centre, Leeds LS2 8DT; or
•	 email - educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk.
•	 Online - Just search for the Broadgate proposal through the Talking Point facility at www.leeds.gov.uk

Responses can be anonymous, but if you would like an acknowledgement please include your name 
and address.

Responses will be summarised and presented to the Executive Board, who will take all your views into 
consideration. Your opinion is therefore important to us so please take the opportunity to respond to 
the proposal. 

Page 75



Page 8 Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015

BLANK PAGE

Page 76



Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015 Page 9

Public consultation response form
Please read the consultation booklet on this proposal and tell us your views. The questions on this 
form are there to help you, but you do not have to respond to them all.

Responses can also be sent by email to educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk or by letter to: 
Capacity Planning and Sufficiency, 10th floor west, Merrion House, 110 Merrion Centre, 
Leeds LS2 8DT.  Please return completed forms to this address. 

Responses must be received by 4pm on Friday 17 January 2014.  

This booklet, along with information on the progress of the proposal, is available at: 
www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Consultations-and-reviews.aspx 
 
Questions
Please answer the questions below which apply to you:

1. Do you agree with the proposed increase in admission number from 30 to 60 
at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015?

Please tell us more about your views and your reasons for them. 

Please use a separate sheet if needed

Yes No

Page 77



Page 10 Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015

2. How did you find out about this consultation?                                                                                   

    

3. Have you found the consultation process and information provided useful?                 

4. How could we improve the consultation process and/or information provided?

All responses will be taken into account when the decision on whether to proceed is made, 
but we unfortunately cannot address specific queries.  However, if you would like your 
response to be acknowledged, please provide your contact details:

Name:

Address:

Parent/carer

Governor

Member of staff

Pupil

Elected member

Local resident

Other

Your child’s/children’s school/s:

Your school:

Your school:

Your school:

Ward:

Area:

Please tell us:

Data Protection Act 1998
Under the terms of the Data Protection Act 1998 we must inform you of the following.  Leeds City Council are seeking 
your views to help inform the decision on this proposal. Your personal information will be used only for this purpose, and 
may be shared with other agencies who are involved in the consultation, however only to address any issues you raise. If 
you do not wish to provide personal details your views will still be considered, but we will not be able to acknowledge your 
response personally. 

Please send your reply to:

Yes No

Capacity Planning and Sufficiency, 10th Floor West, 
Merrion House, 110 Merrion Centre, Leeds LS2 8DT

About you: (please tick and complete all those that apply to you)

Page 78



Proposal to increase primary school places in Horsforth at Broadgate Primary School from September 2015 Page 11

2. How did you find out about this consultation?                                                                                   

    

3. Have you found the consultation process and information provided useful?                 

4. How could we improve the consultation process and/or information provided?

All responses will be taken into account when the decision on whether to proceed is made, 
but we unfortunately cannot address specific queries.  However, if you would like your 
response to be acknowledged, please provide your contact details:

Name:

Address:

Parent/carer

Governor

Member of staff

Pupil

Elected member

Local resident

Other

Your child’s/children’s school/s:

Your school:

Your school:

Your school:

Ward:

Area:

Please tell us:

Data Protection Act 1998
Under the terms of the Data Protection Act 1998 we must inform you of the following.  Leeds City Council are seeking 
your views to help inform the decision on this proposal. Your personal information will be used only for this purpose, and 
may be shared with other agencies who are involved in the consultation, however only to address any issues you raise. If 
you do not wish to provide personal details your views will still be considered, but we will not be able to acknowledge your 
response personally. 

Please send your reply to:
Phone: 0113 247 5793

If you do not speak English and need help in understanding this document, please telephone the number 
below and state the name of your language. We will then put you on hold while we contact an interpreter.

Arabic:

Bengali:

Cantonese:

Farsi:

Hindi:

Punjabi:

Kurdish:

Czech:
Jestliže nemluvíte anglicky a potřebujete, aby vám 
někdo pomohl vysvětlit tento dokument, prosím 
zavolejte na níže uvedené číslo a uveďte svůj jazyk. 
Potom vás požádáme, abyste nepokládal(-a) telefon 
a mezitím zkontaktujeme tlumočníka.

French:
Si vous ne parlez pas anglais et que vous avez 
besoin d’aide pour comprendre ce document, veuillez 
téléphoner au numéro ci-dessous et indiquez  votre 
langue. Nous vous demanderons d’attendre pendant 
que nous contactons un(e) interprètre.

Polish:
Jeżeli nie mówią Państwo po angielsku i potrzebują 
pomocy w zrozumieniu tego dokumentu, prosimy 
zadzwonić pod poniższy numer telefonu. Po 
podaniu nazwy swojego ojczystego języka prosimy 
poczekać – w tym czasie będziemy kontaktować się 
z tłumaczem.

Slovak:
Ak nehovoríte anglicky a potrebujete, aby vám niekto 
pomohol vysvetliť tento dokument, prosím zavolajte 
na nižšie uvedené číslo a uveďte svoj jazyk. Potom 
vás požiadame, aby ste nepokladali telefón a 
medzitým skontaktujeme tlmočníka.

Somali:
Haddii aadan af Ingiriiska ku hadlin una baahan 
tahay in fahamka dukumentigan lagugu caawino, 
fadlan soo wac lambarka teleefoonka hoose oo 
magaca sheeg luqaddaadag.  Ka dib baan kugu oran 
doonaa sug inta aan turjumaan la xiriireyno.

Tigrinya:

Urdu:

Phone: 0113 247 5793

Page 79



 

Have your say
We would like to invite you to our 

consultation events to discuss the proposal 
to increase primary school places at 

Broadgate Primary School

£	 Find out more about the proposal
£	 Take the opportunity to have your say
£	 Ask questions

School name Meeting type Date Time

Broadgate Primary 
School

Consultation 
meeting

Wednesday 
11 December 

2013

6.30pm 
– 8.00pm

Broadgate Primary 
School Drop-in session Thursday 9 

January 2014
2.30pm 

– 3.30pm

Broadgate Primary 
School

Viewing of 
Initial Plans 

Monday 13 
January 2014

6:30pm 
– 8:00pm

Find us on Facebook 
Broadgate Primary School Expansion Proposals

www.leeds.gov.uk

Page 80


	Agenda
	4 Outcome of statutory notices for the expansion of primary provision in Farsley and Horsforth for 2015
	July 2013 Permission to consult 2015 places - Farsley and Calverley
	Farsley consultation Outcome report 23 01 14
	Public consultation_Farsley and Calverley FINAL
	March 2014 EB - Calverley and Broadgate
	Broadgate Primary School Consultation doc


